Dissertation



Synthesis and characterization of polysaccharide derivatives using ionic liquids catalyzed transesterification reactions

Graduate School of

Natural Science and Technology

Kanazawa University

Division of Natural System

Student ID No. 1424062014

Name: NGUYEN VAN QUY

Chief advisor: Professor, Kenji TAKAHASHI

June, 2017

Abstract

During several decades, people have been using fossil resources including coal, gas and oil to generate energy and produce chemicals and materials. The use of fossil resources results in greenhouse gas emission and climate change. Moreover, fossil resources will not last forever, they will be depleted and not enough for all our needs in the future. Therefore, environmental protections and energy security become main global concerns. Biomass, a non-fossil and renewable resource of biological origin has been investigated to produce bioenergy and bio-based chemicals and materials to replace the employment of fossil resources. This process is defined as biorefinery. Isolated from renewable resources - biomass, naturally occurring polysaccharides have been hooked much concern to produce greener chemical products to replace the petroleum-based polymers. However, the numerous strong hydrogen-bonding networks in the polymeric chains of natural polysaccharides limit their solubility, processability, and feasibility. These problems cause many difficulties to apply them as materials. To solve these problems, many effective chemical methods and solvent systems have been developed and reported. Recently, Takahashi and co-workers reported that dual functionalities of the ionic liquid, 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate (EmimOAc), had an effective and quick direct transesterification reactions of microcrystalline cellulose with isopropenyl acetate as a green process of cellulose modification. From this work, the limitation for the ability of EmimOAcmediated cellulose modification is interesting. In this dissertation, the scalability and recyclability were evaluated for the catalytic transesterifications of polysaccharides with EmimOAc serving as both a solvent and an organocatalyst. The synthesis and characterization of a wide range of polysaccharide derivatives from various starting compounds such as cellulose, xylan, dextrin and pullulan using EmimOAc catalyzed transesterification reactions were conducted to address the limitations of its reaction system by addition of co-solvent dimethyl

sulfoxide (DMSO), and apply this effective methodology to directly acetylate the polysaccharides within rice husk and coconut fiber raw biomasses, which are abundant agricultural residues in Vietnam.

For the organocatalytic transesterifications with EmimOAc as a solvent and an organocatalyst, EmimOAc was recycled for four times without an obvious decrease in catalytic activity and the recovery rate of the EmimOAc reached sufficiently high (at least, 96 wt %). In order to show the applicability of the EmimOAc catalyzed transesterifications, the above-mentioned EmimOAccatalyzed polymer modification was expanded to gram-scale reaction with various polysaccharide sources such as avicel, pulps, rayon, xylan, pullulan, and dextrin affording corresponding polysaccharide esters with practically perfect conversions of the starting hydroxyl groups. Structural determinations of the obtained polysaccharide derivatives by FT-IR and ¹H NMR measurements were confirmed the successful syntheses of polysaccharide derivatives bearing acetyl, butyryl, pivaloyl and benzoyl groups, respectively. The degree of substitution of the obtained polysaccharide derivatives were determined by ¹H NMR measurements that were obtained by the further benzoylation reaction and other reported calculation methods. The kinetic evolution of the TER of polysaccharides in EmimOAc was investigated by changing the amount of isopropenyl acetate (IPA), reaction time and temperature. These investigations indicated that the EmimOAc-mediated polysaccharide modification reactions were quantitatively proceeded. Furthermore, the thermal properties of the obtained polysaccharide derivatives were characterized by TGA measurement and solubility behavior observation presenting significant improvements after TER. Size exclusion chromatography measurements for polysaccharide derivatives were performed at 40°C using Prominence gel permeation chromatography system. The number average molecular weight $(M_{n,SEC})$ and polydispersity (M_w/M_n) were determined by the RI based on polystyrene

П

standards. The $M_{n,SEC}$ and M_w/M_n indicated the Im-IL-catalyzed TER was the mild reaction without any polysaccharide decompositions. Finally, this homogeneous system composed EmimOAc, DMSO and IPA could apply eco-friendly and efficiently to synthesize polysaccharide acetates from raw lignocellulosic biomass.

Acknowledgments

I could not finish my Ph.D. dissertation without the guidance of my supervisor and committee members; the help, encouragement and support from great programs, my family members and my friends.

From the bottom of my heart, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Kenji Takahashi, my supervisor, who gave me the opportunity to be a part of his research team with a great atmosphere for doing research, and for his excellent guidance, patience, and supportive discussions. His profound knowledge and experience in the fields including natural polysaccharides, ionic liquids, organic chemistry, biochemistry and polymers influenced my research. I would like to thank my co-advisors, Dr. Ryohei Kakuchi, Dr. Kenji Takada and Dr. Daisuke Hirose guided my research for the past several years, helped me to improve my background in organic chemistry, polymer chemistry and patiently corrected my writings and presentation slides. I am also deeply grateful to them for their kind instructions, insightful discussions, helpful advice, continuous encouragement during my study and family life. I wish to express sincere thanks to my friendly lab mates, Mr. Makoto Yamaguchi, Mr. Hiroki Maeba, Mr. Shuhei Nomura and Miss Rina Hoshino. They are always willing to help and give me the best suggestions.

I would like to thank Can Tho University on behalf of Ca Mau 120 Project under Mekong 1000 Project for offering me a great opportunity to study abroad and for financial support throughout my doctoral course. I also would like to acknowledge the COI, ALCA and SIP programs supported by MEXT and JST.

Finally, I would like to express my deepest and most sincere gratitude towards to my parents, my siblings, my wife, my kind son and my new pretty daughter for their unending encouragement and unconditional support. I also take this chance to thank all of my colleagues at Phan Ngoc Hien High School and friends for their help, support and encouragement.

Table of Contents

Page
Chapter 1 General introduction1
1.1 Natural polysaccharides as the sustainable resources instead
of fossil fuel1
1.2 Ionic liquids of the alternative solvent to green chemistry4
1.3 Effective co-solvent of dimethyl sulfoxide together with
ionic liquids5
1.4 Objective and outline of the thesis6
1.5 References9
Chapter 2 Recyclable and scalable organocatalytic transesterification
of cellulose in imidazolium-based ionic liquid11

2.1 Introduction	.12
2.2 Materials	.18
2.3 Characterization methods	.18
2.4 Synthesis of cellulose derivatives	.20
2.4.1 Transesterification reaction of cellulose in	
EmimOAc/ DMSO mixed solvents	.20
2.4.2 Scaling up and expanding the cellulose sources for	
the organocatalytic transesterifications in	
EmimOAc/DMSO mixed solvent systems	.20

2.4.3 Synthesis of cellulose derivatives using EmimOAc
or EmimOAc/DMSO with various esterification reagents21
2.5 Results and discussion
2.5.1 Recycling and reusing EmimOAc for the cellulose
modification reactions in EmimOAc/DMSO mixed
solvent systems23
2.5.2 Scaling up and expanding the polysaccharide source
for the organocatalytic transesterifications in
EmimOAc/DMSO mixed solvent systems27
2.5.3 Physicochemical characterizations of cellulose
derivatives synthesized by using EmimOAc or
EmimOAc/DMSO with various ester donating reagents28
2.6 Conclusions
2.7 References

Chapter 3 Synthesis, characterization of xylan, dextrin, pullulan

derivatives and kinetic evolution of the TER of polysaccharides

in EmimOAc	40
3.1 Introduction	41
3.2 Materials	47
3.3 Characterization methods	47
3.4 Synthesis of xylan, pullulan and dextrin derivatives	50
3.5 Results and discussion	53

3.6 Conclusions
3.7 References
Chapter 4 Application of the TER using ionic liquid EmimOAc to
directly acetylate lignocellulose from raw lignocellulosic biomass73
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Materials76
4.3 Experimental section76
4.4 Characterization methods77
4.5 Results and discussion78
4.5.1 Confirmation of the obtained acetylated polysaccharides78
4.5.2 Recover and reuse the EmimOAc80
4.5.3 Thermal property of the obtained PAs82
4.5.4 The solubility of the PAs83
4.6 Conclusions
4.7 References

Chapter 5 Conclusions and future work	88
5.1 Conclusions	88
5.2 Proposed future work	91

List of Figures

Page
Figure 1.1 Biorefinery is an alternative green process to replace the
petrorefinery2
Figure 2.1 Structure of cellulose
Figure 2.2 Structure of EmimOAc15
Figure 2.3. ¹ H NMR spectra in CDCl ₃ of the obtained CAs
(Table 2.1, Runs 1-5)25
Figure 2.4 ¹ H NMR spectra in CDCl ₃ of the recovered EmimOAc
after the cellulose modification reactions (Table 2.1, Runs 1-5)26
Figure 2.5 SEC traces of the obtained CA (solvent, CHCl ₃ ; flow rate,
1.0 mL min ⁻¹)
Figure 2.6 FT-IR spectra of cellulose (A), CA-Run 11 (B) and CBu-Run 15
(C), CPiv-Run 13 (D), CBn-Run 12 (E), and CAPiv-Run 14 (F)29
Figure 2.7 ¹ H NMR spectra of CA synthesized from different cellulose
materials recorded in DMSO- d_6 (Runs 6-10) and CDCl ₃ (Run 11)30
Figure 2.8 ¹ H NMR spectra of CBn-Run 12 recorded in acetone- d_6 ,
CPiv-Run 13, CAPiv-Run 14, and CBu-Run 15 recorded in CDCl ₃ 31
Figure 3.1 Structure of xylan41
Figure 3.2 Structure of dextrin
Figure 3.3. Structure of pullulan

Figure 3.4 FT-IR spectra of xylan, XA, XBu, dextrin, DA, DBu, pullulan,
PuA and PuBu54
Figure 3.5 ¹ H NMR spectra of xylan, XA and XBu recorded in DMSO- d_6 55
Figure 3.6 ¹ H NMR spectra of dextrin recorded in D ₂ O, DA and DBu
recorded in DMSO- d_6
Figure 3.7 ¹ H NMR spectra of pullulan recorded in DMSO- <i>d</i> ₆ , PuA-Run 62
and PuBu-Run 64 recorded in CDCl ₃ -d57
Figure 3.8 ¹ H NMR spectra in DMSO- d_6 of the polysaccharide acetates
obtained from a large scale reaction
Figure 3.9 The effect of reaction time on the DS values of
polysaccharide acetates62
Figure 3.10 The effect of reaction time on the conversion rate of
polysaccharide acetates63
Figure 3.11 The effect of the IPA concentration to the OH group ratios on
the DS values of DA63
Figure 3.12 TGA spectra of native xylan, XA, XBu, native dextrin, DA, DBu
native pullulan, PuA and PuBu64
Figure 4.1 Direct transesterification reaction of polysaccharides
from lignocellulosic biomass using EmimOAc/DMSO with IPA
(A: EmimOAc+biomass before reaction, B: the obtained product
from RH, C: the obtained product from CF)78
Figure 4.2 FT-IR spectra of RH, CF, and PAs isolated from RH
(Run 66 using fresh EmimOAc, Run 67 using recycled EmimOAc)

and from CF (Run 68 using fresh EmimOAc, Run 69 using
recycled EmimOAc)79
Figure 4.3 ¹ H NMR spectra of PAs obtained from RH (Run 66) and CF
(Run 68) using fresh EmimOAc recorded in CDCl ₃ 80
Figure 4.4 ¹ H NMR spectra of recycled EmimOAc collected from TER of
RH (Run 66), CF (Run 68), and pure EmimOAc recorded in CDCl ₃ 81
Figure 4.5 TGA thermograms of RH and CF (red, overlap), PAs from RH
(Run 66) and CF (Run 68)82

List of Schemes

Page
Scheme 1.1 Schematic representation of cellulose acetate in
acetic acid/anhydride/catalyst of H2SO42
Scheme 1.2 Schematic representation of pullulan derivatives in
carboxylic acid/trifluoroacetic anhydride (TFAA) system3
Scheme 1.3 The schematic representation of chapter 2
Scheme 1.4 The schematic representation of chapter 37
Scheme 1.5 The schematic representation of chapter 4
Scheme 2.1 Transesterification and hydrolysis reaction of vinyl esters
under the catalyst of NaOH or KOH in DMSO13
Scheme 2.2 Schematic representation of homogeneous acetylation of in
new solvent triethyloctylammonium chloride (N2228Cl) combination
with acetone and DMAc/pyridine14
Scheme 2.3 Schematic representation of the transesterification
reaction of cellulose in EmimOAc16
Scheme 2.4 The schematic representation of transesterification reactions
of cellulose in EmimOAc with by changing the amount of IPA, VPiv22
Scheme 2.5 Recyclable reaction of cellulose in EmimOAc/DMSO
mixed solvent system24
Scheme 3.1 Schematic representation of xylan esters in heterogeneous
or homogeneous systems43
Scheme 3.2 Schematic representation of pullulan acetate
in DMAc/pyridine/CH ₃ COC145

Scheme 3.3 Schematic representation of synthesis of xylan, detrin and
pullulan derivatives using EmimOAc as both solvent and
organocatalyst or a mixed solvent of EmimOAc/DMSO52
Scheme 4.1 The schematic representation of direct transesterification
reactions of lignocellulosic biomass in EmimOAc and DMSO77

List of Tables

Page
Table 1.1 Solubility of dissolving pulp cellulose in ionic liquids4
Table 2.1. Recycling EmimOAc in the cellulose modification reactions
in EmimOAc/DMSO mixed solvent systems25
Table 2.2 A large scale cellulose modification reactions by using a
range of cellulose sources
Table 2.3 Synthesis of cellulose derivatives with various DS value at 80°C
under different conditions
Table 3.1 Degree of substitution (DS) of and yield of xylan acetate
synthesized under various conditions in DMF/LiCl42
Table 3.2 Synthesis of CA (from filter paper) and xylan derivatives with
different DS values under various reaction conditions
Table 3.3 Synthesis of dextrin derivatives with different DS values under
various reaction conditions60
Table 3.4 Synthesis of pullulan derivatives with different DS values under
various reaction conditions61
Table 3.5 Solubility behavior and thermal analysis of polysaccharide
derivatives65
Table 4.1 The yield, solubility and thermal property of the PAs obtained
directly from RH and CF using fresh EmimOAc (Run 66, 68) and
recycled EmimOAc (Run 67, 69)83

Abbreviations

AGU	anhydroglucose unit	
CA	cellulose aceate	
CAPiv	cellulose acetate pivalate	
CBu	cellulose butyrate	
CBn	cellulose benzoate	
CF	coconut fiber	
CPiv	cellulose pivalate	
DMAc	N,N-dimethyl acetamide	
DMF	N,N-dimethyl formamide	
DMI	1,3-dimethy-2-imidazolidinone	
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide	
DMSO- d_6	deuterated dimethyl sulfoxide	
DP	degree of polymerization	
DS	degree of substitution	
DA	dextrin acetate	
DBu	dextrin butyrate	
EmimOAc	1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate	
FT-IR	fourier - transform infrared spectroscopy	
g	gram	
h	hour	
ILs	ionic liquids	
L	liter	
LiCl	lithium chloride	
М	molar (mol/L)	
PuA	pullulan acetate	
PuBu	pullulan butyrate	
PAs	polysaccharide acetates	

min	minute	
mL	milliliter	
mg	milligram	
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance	
RH	rice husk	
RTILs	room temperature ionic liquids	
SEC	size exclusion chromatography	
TBAF	tetrabutylammonium fluoride trihydrate	
TER	transesterification reactions	
TFAA	trifluoroacetic anhydride	
TGA	thermogravimetric analysis	
XA	xylan acetate	
XBu	xylan butyrate	
XU	anhydroxylose unit	

Chapter 1: General introduction

1.1 Natural polysaccharides as the sustainable resources instead of fossil fuel

The human life has become more and more comfortable and convenient because of the development of science and technology, especially in the field of polymer materials. Polymers have being applied widely in various aspects of human life including food industry, textile, health care, transportation, construction, pharmaceutical industry.¹ However, during several centuries, human activities based on fossil resources such as coal, gas and oil to generate energy and produce chemical products such as polymeric materials.² The employment of fossil resources results in the accumulation of greenhouse gas and climate change significantly. Moreover, fossil resources will not last forever, they will be depleted and not enough to supply all our demands in the future. Therefore, for the sustainability of global economic development, environmental protections and energy security are main global interests.³ Looking for alternative and sustainable resources to produce fuels, chemicals and materials by using greener technologies needs to be investigated. Recently, biomass, a non-fossil and renewable resource of biological origin has been employed to convert into bioenergy and bio-based chemicals and materials to replace the use of non-biodegradable petroleum-based polymers due to their eco-friendly properties. This process is defined as biorefinery⁴ (Figure 1.1). Natural polysaccharides such as cellulose, xylan, pullulan, dextran, dextrin and chitin are interesting kinds of biological polymers with the functionality of polysaccharide structures combined with reactive groups.⁵ However, the numerous complex hydrogen-bonding networks within the polymeric chains of natural polysaccharides lead to the limitations of solubility, processability, and feasibility that are difficult to use them as materials.⁶



Figure 1.1 Biorefinery is an alternative green process to replace the petrorefinery

Esterification is an effective chemical modification method of polysaccharides to achieve thermoplastic polymeric materials.⁷⁻⁹ Traditionally, cellulose acetate (CA) is produced by acetylating the hydroxyl groups in cellulose with acetic acid and acetic anhydride using sulfuric acid as a catalyst.¹⁰ Other heterogeneous or homogeneous methods have been developed to synthesize CA (Scheme 1.1).^{11, 12}

Scheme 1.1 Schematic representation of CA in acetic acid/anhydride/catalyst of H₂SO₄



The obtained xylan derivatives had potential applications to produce biodegradable plastics, resins, films and its blends.¹³⁻¹⁷ Low solubility or completely insoluble in water pullulan derivatives can be modified by chemical methods.¹⁸ In 2015, Iwata et al.¹⁹ reported that fully substituted pullulan esters with carbon number of acyl group (n) of 2-14 were conducted in carboxylic acid/trifluoroacetic anhydride (TFAA) system (Scheme 1.2).

Scheme 1.2 Schematic representation of pullulan derivatives in carboxylic acid/trifluoroacetic anhydride (TFAA) system



Stearic acid dextrin ester was synthesized by using lipase as a catalyst.²⁰ Lignocellulosic biomass refers to inedible and the most abundant plant material in the planet with the chemical components of 45-55% cellulose, 25-35% hemicellulose and 20-30% lignin. It has been investigated as a promising potential resource to obtain chemicals, energy and various materials because of its renewable and biodegradable characteristics.²¹⁻²³

1.2 Ionic liquids of the alternative solvent for green chemistry

liquids (ILs) are groups of imidazolium, pyridinium Ionic or halide/halogenoaluminate low-melting-point molten salts, that change into liquid phase around room temperature.²⁴ ILs have specific characteristics such as a negligible vapor pressure, excellent thermal stabilities, and controllable physicochemical properties, and recently, ILs have attracted much attention.²⁵ The researches related to biomolecules such as naturally occurring polysaccharides by using ILs have been increased because ILs structures have specific affinities for polysaccharides.²⁶ ILs were investigated as green solvents for dissolution biopolymers instead of the use of volatile organic. In 2002, Rogers and co-workers comprehensively confirmed that the 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride (BmimCl) significantly dissolved cellulose in high concentrations under mild conditions (Table 1.1).²⁷ Since then, ILs were mainly used to homogeneously derivatize, modify, and regenerate cellulose and other polysaccharides.²⁸⁻³¹

Ionic liquid	Method	Solubility (wt%)
[C4mim]Cl	Heat 100°C, 70°C	10, 3
[C ₄ mim]Cl	Heat 80°C + sonication	5
[C4mim]Cl	Microwave heating 3-5-pulses	25, clear viscous solution
[C ₄ mim]Br	Microwave	5-7
[C4mim]SCN	Microwave	5-7
[C ₄ mim][BF ₄]	Microwave	Insoluble
[C ₄ mim][PF ₆]	Microwave	Insoluble
[C ₆ mim]Cl	Heat 100°C	5
[C ₈ mim]Cl	Heat 100°C	Slightly soluble

 Table 1.1 Solubility of dissolving pulp cellulose in ionic liquids

1.3 Effective co-solvent of dimethyl sulfoxide together with ionic liquids

ILs have been used as solvents for polysaccharide modifications. However, some disadvantages were found because of high viscosity of the ILs and the corresponding polysaccharide solution, and limited miscibility of the ILs with hydrophobic reagents. These limitations may result in a non-uniform and irreproducible reaction products. These problems can be addressed by adding co-solvents to polysaccharide/ILs solutions. For example, the employment of varied co-solvents in ternary systems (cellulose/IL/co-solvent) has studied and the results indicated that DMSO was the most suitable co-solvent compared with the others.³²

1.4 Objective and outline of the thesis

The objectives of my research are to synthesize and characterize a wide range of polysaccharide derivatives by using the EmimOAc and EmimOAc/DMSO catalyzed TER and apply this effective methodology to directly acetylate the polysaccharides within rice husk (RH) and coconut fiber (CF) raw biomasses. An outline for this dissertation is presented as follows:

Chapter 2 will present a brief review of cellulose structure and chemical modification methods. The summarization of chapter 2 is depicted in Scheme 1.3. recyclability The scalability and were evaluated for the catalytic transesterifications of cellulose with imidazolium-based ionic liquid (Im-ILs) such as EmimOAc serving as both a solvent and an organocatalyst. Then describe the syntheses of a variety of cellulose derivatives such as CA, cellulose butyrate (CBu), cellulose pivalate (CPiv), cellulose benzoate (CBn) and cellulose acetate pivalate (CAPiv).

Scheme 1.3 The schematic representation of chapter 2



In Chapter 3, the syntheses and characterizations of other polysaccharides derivatives including xylan, pullulan and dextrin will be presented and summarized in Scheme 1.4. The structural polysaccharide derivatives, the kinetic evolution of TER of polysaccharides in EmimOAc by changing the amount of IPA, reaction time and temperature, the thermal property and the solubility behavior of polysaccharide derivatives were investigated.





Chapter 4 will discuss the application of the TER using recyclable EmimOAc and co-solvent DMSO to directly acetylate polysaccharides from raw lignocellulosic biomass (Scheme 1.5). The structures of polysaccharide acetates (PAs) including cellulose acetate (CA) and hemicellulose acetate (HA) isolated from RH and CF were confirmed by FT-IR and ¹HNMR measurements. The characterizations of the obtained PAs such as thermal property, solubility and the comparison of the efficiency the TER by using fresh EmimOAc and recycled EmimOAc was also investigated.



Scheme 1.5 The schematic representation of chapter 4

Chapter 5 is a summary of this dissertation and suggest some possibility for the future work of the ionic liquid catalyzed modification of cellulose and other reactions.

1.5 References

- 1 T. Iwata, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 2015, 54, 3210-3215.
- 2 A. Brandt, J. Grasvik, J. P. Hallet and T. Welton, *Green Chem.*, 2013, **15**, 550-583.
- 3 J-L. Wertz and O. Bédué, Lignocellulosesic Biorifinergies., 2013.
- 4 D. Greer, CropChoice.com, 2005 in http://www.cropchoice.com/leadstryethanol052005.html
- 5 L. A. Lucia and Y. Habibi, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2012, 105-125.
- 6 J. Kadokawa, Green and Sustainable Chemistry., 2013, 3, 19-25.
- 7 K. J. Edgar, C. M. Buchanan, J. S. Debenham, P. A. Rundquist, B. D. Seiler and M. C. Shelton, *Prog Polym Sci.*, 2001, **26** (9), 1605-1688.
- 8 T. Heinze and T. Liebert, Progress in Polymer Science., 2001, 26, 1689-1762.
- 9 T. Heinze and T. Liebert, Macromolecular Symposia., 2004, 208, 167-237.
- 10 S. Fischer, K. Thummler, B. Volkert, K. Hettrich, I. Chmidt and K. Fischer, *Macromolecular Symposia.*, 2008, **262** (1), 89-96.
- 11 T. Heinze and T. Liebert, Macromolecular Symposia., 2004, 208 (1), 167-237.
- 12 T. Heinze, T. Liebert and A. Koschella, New York: Springer Laboratory., 2006, 41-116.
- 13 C. M. Buchanan, N. L. Buchanan, J. S. Debenham, P. Gatelholm, M. Jacobsson, M. C. Shelton, et al., *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 2003, **52** (4), 345-357.
- 14 I. Gabrielii, P. Gatenholm, W. G. Glasser, R. K. Jain and L. Kenne, *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 2000, **43 (4)**, 367-374.
- 15 E. I. Goksu, M. Karamanlioglu, U. Bakir, L. Yilmaz and U. Yilmazer, *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 2007, **55 (26)**, 10685-10691.
- 16 B. S. Kayserilioglu, U. Bakir, L. Yilmaz and N. Akkas, *Bioresource Technology.*, 2003, **87 (3)**, 239-246.
- 17 H. M. Shaikh, K. V. Pandare, G. Nair and A. J. Varma, Carbohydrate

Polymers., 2009, 76 (1), 23-29.

- 18 M. Rekha and P. Chandra, *Trends in Biomaterials and Artificial Organs.*, 2007, 20 (2), 116-121.
- 19 Y. Enomoto-Rogers, N. Iio, A. Takemura and T. Iwata, *European Polymer Journal*, 2015, **66**, 470-477.
- 20 P. Sun, H. Yang, Y. Wang, K. Liu and Y. Xu., Research in Health and Nutrition (RHN)., 2013, 1, 7-11.
- 21 M. Balat and H. Balat, Applied Energy., 2009, 86 (11), 2273-2282.
- 22 D. R. Dodds and R. A. Gross, Science., 2007, 318 (5854), 1250-1251.
- 23 A. Gandini, *Macromolecules.*, 2008, **41 (24)**, 9491-9504.
- 24 P. Wassercheid and T. Welton, J. Chin. Chem. Soc., 2008, 55 (4), 716-723.
- 25 N. V. Plechkova and K. R Seddon, *Chemical Society Reviews.*, 2008, **37**, 123-150.
- 26 O. A. El Seoud, A. Koschella, L. C. Fidale, S. Dorn and T. Heinze, Biomacromolecules, 2007, 8, 2629-2647.
- 27 R. P. Swatloski, S. K, Spear, J. D. Holbrey and R. D. Rogers, Am. Chem. Soc., 2002, 124, 4974-4975.
- 28 S. Zhu, Y. Wu, Q. Chen, Z. Yu, C. Wang, S. Jin, Y. Ding and G. Wu, Green Chemistry., 2006, 8, 325-327.
- 29 T. Liebert and T. Heinze, *BioResources.*, 2008, **3**, 576-601.
- 30 L. Feng and Z. I. Cheng, Journal of Molecular Liquids., 2008, 142, 1-5.
- 31 A. Pinkert, K. N. Marsh, S. Pang and M. P. Staiger, *Chemical Reviews.*, 2009, 109, 6712-6728.
- 32 M. Gericke, K. Schlufter, T. Liebert, T. Heinze and T. Budtova, *Biomacromolecules.*, 2009, **10**, 1188-1194.

Chapter 2: Recyclable and Scalable Organocatalytic Tranesterification of cellulose in a mixed solvent of EmimOAc and DMSO

In this chapter, scalability and recyclability were evaluated for the catalytic transesterifications of cellulose with imidazolium-based ionic liquid (Im-ILs) serving as both a solvent and an organocatalyst. For the organocatalytic transesterifications with 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazorium acetate (EmimOAc) as a solvent and an organocatalyst, EmimOAc was recycled for four times without an obvious decrease in catalytic activity and the recovery rate of the EmimOAc reached sufficiently high (at least, 96 wt %). In order to show the applicability of the Im-IL catalyzed transesterifications, the above-mentioned EmimOAc-catalyzed polymer modification was expanded to gram-scale reaction with various cellulose sources such as avicel, pulps, and rayon, affording corresponding cellulose esters with practically perfect conversions of the starting hydroxyl groups. The TER of a series of cellulose materials using homogeneous system composed EmimOAc or EmimOAc/DMSO with IPA/VBu/VPiv/VBn as donating ester reagents without using additional catalysts and corrosive chemicals were successfully accomplished affording cellulose derivatives. The structural characterizations of the obtained products were confirmed by FT-IR and ¹H NMR analyses indicated that CA, CBu, CPiv, CBn and CAPiv with high DS values were successfully synthesized in short reaction time. SEC measurements indicated that the obtained products had no decomposed compound during the EmimOAc-catalyszed TER.

2.1 Introduction

Nowadays, environmental protection and energy security are dominant themes for the world. Human activities, by over-exploitation of fossil fuels such as oil, coal and natural gas have leaded to the shortage of resources, accumulation of greenhouse gas and global warming. The need has dramatically arisen to find renewable and sustainable resources to replace the use of fossil resources which will not enough to offer all our needs.¹ Lignocellulosic biomass has been

investigated as a promising potential and important alternative to produce fuels, biobased chemicals, energy and various materials because of its non-fossil renewable and biodegradable properties.²⁻⁴ Cellulose is one of the most abundant lignocellulosic



Figure 2.1 Structure of cellulose

resources and widely presented in photosynthetic organisms such as plants, bacteria. algae, invertebrates, and even amoeba.^{5, 6} It is estimated that about 56.8 \times 10^9 tons of elemental carbon is produced annually by terrestrial plants via photosynthesis around the world.⁷ Cellulose has extensive inter-/intra-molecular hydrogen-bonding network of crystalline structure which consists of a linear chain of up to 10000 β -1,4-linked D-glucopyranose units (Figure. 2.1). However, cellulose shows some disadvantages such as poor solubility in conventional solvents, high hydrophilicity, and lack of thermalplasticity, thus limiting its wider application as bio-based polymers.⁸ These difficulties can be addressed by chemical modification, and the production of cellulose derivatives has attracted significant concerns.⁹ Chemical esterification is an effective method was used to modify cellulose.¹⁰ and CA is one of the most commercially important cellulose derivatives and has been applied in many fields such as fibers, plastic, film, cigarette filter, dialyzer, and coating industry.^{11, 12} Global production of CA is estimated to be 1.5 billion pounds a year. Traditionally, CA is produced by acetylating the hydroxyl groups in cellulose with acetic acid and acetic anhydride using sulfuric acid as a catalyst.¹³ Other heterogeneous or homogeneous methods have been developed to synthesize CA such as N,N-carbonyldiimidazole, dialkylcarbodiimide, iminium chloride, ring-opening esterification and transesterification.^{14, 15} The transesterification of cellulose with acetic anhydride or vinyl acetate in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)/tetrabutylammonium fluoride trihydrate (TBAF/3H₂O) was carried out and obtained in high yield.^{16, 17} CA was also prepared by using other solvents such as N-ethyl-pyridinium chloride,¹⁸ N,Ndimethylacetamide (DMAc)/Lithium chloride (LiCl),^{19, 20} 1,3-dimethy-2imidazolidinone (DMI)/LiCl, DMSO under the catalysis of NaOH or KOH (Scheme 2.1),²¹ and DMSO with 1,8-diazabicyclo [5,4,0] undec-7-ene (DBU) catalyzed per-O-acetylation.²² Scheme 2.2 presents the acetylation of cellulose in new solvent triethyloctylammonium chloride (N₂₂₂₈Cl) combination with acetone and DMAc/pyridine.²³ However, the use of these solvents having various disadvantages such as environmental problems, side reactions, difficult recycling and high cost because of the requirement of activation before dissolution and instability.²⁴

Scheme 2.1 Transesterification and hydrolysis reaction of vinyl esters under the catalyst of NaOH or KOH in DMSO



Transesterification reaction

Scheme 2.2 Schematic representation of homogeneous acetylation of in new solvent triethyloctylammonium chloride (N₂₂₂₈Cl) combination with acetone and DMAc/pyridine.²³



Recently, the room temperature ionic liquids (RTILs) have been defined as low-melting-point molten salts²⁵ and they have received significant attentions as promising green solvents²⁶ for dissolution of cellulose^{27, 28} due to their attractive properties such as a negligible vapor pressure, non-flammability, excellent thermal stability, controllable physical and chemical characterictics,²⁹ and allowed efficient and homogeneous synthesis of cellulose esters. The homogeneous system consisted of 1-allyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride (AmimCl) and acetic anhydride without a catalyst was used to obtained CA with DS values from 0.94 to 2.74 by different reaction conditions.³⁰ The acetylation of cellulose was carried out using Zn-based acidic ILs featuring Zn²⁺ as a Lewis acid.³¹

During the past decades, emergence of metal-free catalysts, the so-called organocatalysts, has emerged in the chemical sciences.³²⁻³⁷ With the rapid growth of organocatalysts in organic chemistry, these catalysts have gradually integrated with polymer chemistry. For example, organocatalysts were revealed to be efficient for a range of polymer synthesis including ring opening polymerizations of cyclic esters,³⁸⁻⁴⁵ epoxides,⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸ and cyclic siloxane,⁴⁹ the group transfer polymerization of vinyl monomers,⁵⁰⁻⁵⁵ step-growth polymerizations, ^{38, 56-57} as

well as post-polymerization modification reactions,⁵⁸ to mention a few.⁵⁹⁻⁶⁰ When considering that organocatalysts are free from organometallics and thus involve green natures, an integration of organocatalysts into bio-renewable resources should provide new directions in biomass related science and polymer chemistry. For example, organocatalysts have been utilized for ring-opening polymerization of bio-based cyclic esters,⁶¹ vinyl polymerization of bio-renewable monomers,⁶²⁻⁶³ cellulose⁶⁴⁻⁶⁸ of polymer analogous reactions Organocatalytic and of transesterifications cellulose using the ionic liquid 1-butvl-3methylimidazolium chloride (BmimCl) as a media and 1,5,7-triazabicyclo [4,4,0] dec-5-ene (TBD) as a catalyst were accomplished to produce cellulose derivatives with a limited DS values up to 0.69.64 The dissolution process of 3-20 wt% microcrystalline cellulose was treated with EmimOAc (Figure 2.2) and a mixture of EmimOAc with DMSO at different

temperatures.⁶⁹ The vapor of EmimOAc was dominated by the *N*-heterocyclic carbine-acetic acid complex which was highly reactive organocatalyst,⁷⁰ and EmimOAc can be recycled and reused.⁷¹





Since polysaccharides including cellulose are known to be one of the most important chemical feedstock, the utilization of cellulose as a starting material has been a long-lasting challenge in biomass related chemistries.⁷² Due to their strong inter- and intra-hydrogen bonding, cellulose is hardly soluble in any reaction medium ranging from aqueous to organic ones. In this context, Im-ILs have been spotlighted in the field of biomass-related technologies since Im-ILs are known to dissolve cellulose under mild condition without harming the cellulose chemical structures.^{27, 73} Along with the privileged cellulose dissolving property of the Im-ILs, Im-ILs have found their way in organocatalysts based on their molecular structures.⁷⁴ Recently, we have reported that the Im-ILs could provide dual functionalities of organocatalysts and reaction solvent for cellulose modification reactions in Im-

ILs with stable esters such as isopropenyl acetate where Im-ILs behaved as not only a reaction medium but also an organocatalyst for the transesterification (Scheme 2.3). Thus, our synthetic protocol has realized not only active but also instinctively green cellulose modification reactions, potentially leading to materials science based on cellulose.

Scheme 2.3 Schematic representation of the transesterification reaction of cellulose in EmimOAc⁶⁷



Despite the inherent green nature of the cellulose modification protocol, practical aspect of the reaction system has been a remaining consideration. In fact, the cellulose modification reactions were conducted on mg scale, thus limiting its application to other chemical sciences. In addition, reusability of Im-ILs should be verified because Im-ILs are rather expensive as compared to common organic solvents. It must be worth noting here that Im-ILs are at the same time known to be chemically stable and hardly volatile even under high vacuum conditions. This leads to a potential advantage of the Im-ILs in recyclability because high vacuum distillation of the reaction system should realize easy recovery of the Im-ILs. However, above-mentioned issues have not been addressed in detail in our latest works. Along with the intrinsic green advantage of cellulose, enriching practical applicability of the cellulose modification protocol is rationally expected to provide practical and operationally easy synthetic strategy to not only polymer chemists but also materials scientists who wish to handle cellulose derivatives.

Herein, we now wish to provide an insight into practical applicability of our synthetic protocol (Scheme 2.4 and Scheme 2.5). This chapter represents: 1)

recyclability of Im-ILs for cellulose modification reactions, 2) scaling up the cellulose modification reactions with different cellulose sources such as avicel, pulps and rayon, 3) developing a homogeneous transesterification system composed ionic liquid EmimOAc as both catalyst and solvent, or EmimOAc as a catalyst with co-solvent DMSO (EmimOAc/DMSO) and IPA or VBu or VPiv or VBn without using additional catalysts and corrosive chemicals to efficiently synthesize cellulose derivatives with high DS values (Scheme 2.6 and Scheme 2.7); 4) the ¹H NMR and FT-IR spectroscopy techniques were applied to elucidate the structural cellulose derivatives; 5) the thermal properties of these cellulose derivatives were also characterized by TGA; and moreover, 6) the solubility behavior of cellulose derivatives in commercial organic solvents was also investigated.

2.2 Materials

1-Ethyl-3-methylimidazorium acetate (EmimOAc; 95 %), dichloromethane, methanol, chloroform, deuterated NMR solvents (DMSO-d₆, CDCl₃-d, Acetone-d) were purchased from Kanto Chemical Co., Inc., and used without further purification. For ester reagents, the isopropenyl acetate (IPA) (99%) was available from the Sigma-Aldrich Chemicals Co., vinyl butyrate (VBu), vinyl pivalate (VPiv) and vinyl benzoate (VBn) were purchased from Tokyo Chemical Industry Co., Ltd, Japan and used as received. As cellulose sources, Avicel PH-101 and filter paper (whatman were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Chemicals Co; The apparent molecular weight of the avicel was determined by size exclusion chromatography (SEC) measurements in THF with polystyrene calibrations of carbanilated cellulose sample (reacted with phenyl isocyanate). The carbanilation reaction was carried out essentially according to a previously reported method.⁷⁵ The apparent number average degree of polymerization of original cellulose was calculated to be 105; pulp A, B, C and rayon were kindly offered by DAICEL Chemical Industries Ltd, Japan. All other chemicals such as dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, anhydrous >99.9%), benzoyl chloride were commercially available and used without further purification unless otherwise stated.

2.3 Characterization methods

The FT-IR spectra were observed by a Thermo Fisher Scientific Nicolet iS10 equipped with an ATR unit. All the ¹H NMR spectra were recorded by JEOL 400 and 600 MHz FT-NMR spectrometers in solution of products (10mg) dissolved in 800µl of deuterated solvents (such as DMSO- d_6 , CDCl₃-d, or Acetone-d), the chemical shifts (δ) were given in ppm as either the solvent peak or TMS as the internal standard. The Degree of substitution (DS) values of the CA, CBu, CPiv and CAPiv were determined by ¹H NMR measurements of the cellulose derivatives and that were obtained by the reaction of cellulose derivatives with an excess amount of benzoyl chloride. The typical procedure is as follows: A

solution of the cellulose derivatives (100 mg, 347 μ mol), 4 ml CHCl₃, benzoyl chloride (440 mg, 3.1 mmol) and triethylamine (318 mg, 3.1 mmol) was stirred for 24 hours at room temperature. The reaction mixture was then poured into a large amount of MeOH to precipitate the products. The obtained products were collected by filtration and dried under vacuum conditions. In order to avoid potential overlapping of the aromatic protons and solvent peak, NMR measurements were conducted in DMSO-*d*₆. The DS values were calculated using the following equation:

$$DS = \frac{peak \ area \ (CH3)/3}{peak \ area \ (CH3)/3 + peak \ area \ (7.0 \sim 8.5 ppm)/5} \times 3$$

The DS of CBn was calculated from ¹H NMR spectrum by the equation:

$$DS = \frac{7Iphenyl}{5IAUG}$$

Where: I_{phenyl} , the peak integral of phenyl protons, I_{AUG} , peak integral of protons of anhydroglucose unit.⁷⁶

Size exclusion chromatography measurements for polysaccharides were performed at 40°C using Prominence gel permeation chromatography system (DGU-20A degassing unit, LC-20AD pump, SIL-20A HT auto sampler, CTO-20A column oven, and RID-20A refractive index detector) with two shodex KF-806L columns. The number average molecular weight ($M_{n,SEC}$) and polydispersity (M_w/M_n) were determined by the RI based on polystyrene standards (PStQuick A and PStQuick C).

2.4 Syntheses of cellulose derivatives

2.4.1 Transesterification reaction of cellulose in EmimOAc/DMSO mixed solvents

A typical reaction based on the transesterification reaction of cellulose was carried out as follows. A solution of cellulose (120 mg, [monomeric unit]₀ = 0.74 mmol) in EmimOAc (4.00 g, 23.5 mmol) was dried for 16 hours under vacuum conditions at 80°C. After drying process was finished, DMSO (4.00 mL) and IPA (4.00 mL, 36.8 mmol) were added under an argon atmosphere. After the reaction mixture was stirred for 30 minutes, the reaction mixture was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ and poured into a large amount of methanol. The obtained polymer was purified by reprecipitation (CH₂Cl₂/methanol) to yield a pale yellowish powder. Yield: 192 mg.

2.4.2 Scaling up and expanding the cellulose sources for the organocatalytic transesterifications in EmimOAc/DMSO mixed solvent systems

In an 1000ml schlenk flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer, 2.4g of cellulose materials (Avicel-Run 6, rayon-Run 7 or pulp C-Run 8, pulp B-Run 9, pulp A-Run 10) and 6.0g of EmimOAc as a solvent and an organocatalyst were added. The mixture was dried and heated at 80°C using oil bath for 3h under vacuum conditions. After drying step was completed, 80 mL of DMSO was added as a co-solvent to completely dissolve the mixture under an argon atmosphere. Then, 12 mL of IPA (the initial [IPA]/[OH] was adjusted to be 2.5/1) was added to the mixture and stirred for 18h at 80°C. At the end of the reaction, the homogeneous mixture was poured slowly into 800 mL MeOH, the precipitates were collected by filtration in duplicate. The obtained products were dried under vacuum for overnight at 50°C. Yield: 3.45 g.

20
2.4.3 Synthesis of cellulose derivatives using EmimOAc or EmimOAc/DMSO with various esterification reagents

Synthesis of CA with small scale: In a schlenk flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer, 120mg (3 wt%) of cellulose (filter paper-Run 11) and 4g of EmimOAc as an organocatalyst and solvent were added. The mixture was heated at 80°C using oil bath for 3h under vacuum conditions to get complete cellulose dissolution. Then, 4mL of IPA was added to the mixture under an argon atmosphere and stirred for different reaction time from 18h at 80°C. At the end of the reaction, the mixture was poured slowly into methanol and filtered in duplicate. The obtained product was dried in a vacuum oven for 24h at 50°C. Yield: 148 mg.

Synthesis of cellulose benzoate (CBn-Run 12) and cellulose pivalate (CPiv-Run 13) with large scale: In an 1000ml schlenk flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer, 2.4g of cellulose rayon and 6.0g of EmimOAc were added. The mixture was dried and heated at 80°C using oil bath for 3h under vacuum conditions. Then, 80 ml of DMSO as a co-solvent was added to completely dissolve the mixture under an argon atmosphere, then 98 mL of VBn (or 104mL of VPiv) was added to the mixture and stirred for 1h at 80°C. At the end of the reaction, the mixture was precipitated in 800mL MeOH and filtered in triplicate. The obtained product was dried under vacuum for overnight at 50°C. Yield: 3.48 g (CBn); 3.12 g (CPiv).

Synthesis of cellulose acetate pivalate (CAPiv-Run 14, 16-17): The reaction procedure was shown in scheme 2.4. Cellulose (240 mg; AGU, 1.48 mmol) and 1ethyl-3-methylimidazorium acetate (EmimOAc; 8.0 g; 47.0 mmol) were added to a schlenk flask in the argon atmosphere. The mixture was dried at 80°C under reduced pressure for 3h. Then, the amount of esterification reagents (IPA and VPiv) as shown in Table 2.3 was added under Ar condition. At the end of the reaction, the mixture was precipitated in a mixture of MeOH: H₂O and filtered in triplicate. The obtained products were dried under vacuum for overnight at 50°C. Yield: 230 mg. **Scheme 2.4** The schematic representation of transesterification reactions of cellulose in EmimOAc with by changing the amount of IPA and VPiv



Synthesis of cellulose butyrate (CBu-Run 15): In a schlenk flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer and a condenser, 240mg of cellulose and EmimOAc as an organocatalyst (0.25 mole equivalent) was added. The mixture was heated at 80°C using oil bath for 3h in vacuum conditions. Then, 2mL of DMSO as a co-solvent was added to dissolve the mixture under an argon atmosphere. Thereafter, VBu with the amount is 16 mole equivalent to molar amount of hydroxyl group in an AGU was added to the mixture and stirred for overnight. At the end of the reaction, the mixture was evaporated and poured slowly in methanol and filtered in duplicate. The obtained product was dried in a vacuum oven for 24h at 50°C. Yield: 344 mg.

2.5 Results and discussion

2.5.1 Recycling and reusing EmimOAc for the cellulose modification reactions in EmimOAc/DMSO mixed solvent systems

In order to make the reported cellulose modification protocol greener and more practical, we first turned our attention to a recyclability and reusability of employed Im-ILs. Therefore, the first purpose in this work was to test whether or not employed Im-ILs could be recycled and reused for the cellulose modification reactions in the Im-ILs. Due to high viscosity and cost associated with the use of Im-ILs, the cellulose modification reaction was optimized in our latest work.⁶⁶ In this context, the optimized reaction was employed for our study. To be precise, the cellulose modification reaction was conducted in EmimOAc/DMSO mixed solvent with isopropenyl acetate (IPA) being an ester donating reagent and EmimOAc being a cellulose solvent and an organocatalyst for transesterification. The initial cellulose modification condition of [EmimOAc]/[DMSO]/[IPA] was set to be [4.0]/[4.4]/[3.7] with cellulose concentration being 1.0 %. The wt transesterification reaction was conducted for 18h under Ar atmosphere at 80°C. As already reported, the cellulose transesterification reaction led to cellulose acetate featuring high degree of substitution (DS) value of 2.95. After the cellulose acetate was isolated by a simple reprecipitation into MeOH, the resultant MeOH layer was subject to evaporation and subsequently high vacuum distillation (Scheme 2.5). This gave the employed EmimOAc in 99.2 wt % recovery ratio (Run 1, Table 2.1). As shown in the ¹H NMR spectrum of the recovered EmimOAc depicted in Figure 2.3, a slight amount of impurity was observed. Though a precise decomposition mechanism has been unclear, this phenomenon could be correlated with a rather acidic C2 proton. Since EmimOAc features a strongly basic acetate anion, instinctive nucleophilic attack of acetate anion to the C2 proton would be inevitable but could lead to a decomposition reaction. In spite of the confirmed impurity most probably owing to the decomposition during the reaction and/or purification steps, the recovered EmimOAc was then used for the

next cellulose modification reaction without any cautions. As shown in Run 2 (Table 2.1), cellulose acetate was produced with high DS value of 2.96 and good recyclability of the EmimOAc (98.1 %). This procedure was successfully iterated at least four times without any difficulties and a decrease in catalytic activities (Runs $3 \sim 5$, Table 2.1). Thus, although unknown impurities have been generated in the employed EmimOAc through the iterated reaction and purification steps, the EmimOAc was revealed to be recyclable and reusable in the cellulose modification reaction for at least three times.

Scheme 2.5 Recyclable reaction of cellulose in EmimOAc/DMSO mixed solvent system



Dur	EmimOAc	DS values ^b	Recovery rate of	$M_{ m n,SEC}$ d	$M_{ m w}/M_{ m n}$ d
Kun			EmimOAc [wt %] ^c		
1	Fresh	2.95	99.2	31,700	3.58
2	Recycle 1	2.96	98.1	32,200	4.33
3	Recycle 2	2.87	96.2	33,200	3.43
4	Recycle 3	2.88	96.8	31,500	3.33
5	Recycle 4	2.86	97.7	29,900	5.69

Table 2.1. Recycling EmimOAc in the cellulose modification reactions in EmimOAc/DMSO mixed solvent systems a

^{*a*} The reaction conditions for the transesterification reactions of cellulose with IPA are as follows; EmimOAc as a solvent and an organocatalyst; the reaction was conducted for 18 hours; 4 mL of DMSO was used as a co-solvent; 120 mg of cellulose was used as a starting compound; initial [IPA]/[OH] was adjusted to be 16.5/1; Ar atmosphere. ^{*b*} Determined by ¹H NMR measurements in DMSO-*d*₆. ^{*c*} The recovery ratio was determined after vacuum drying of the resultant EmimOAc. ^{*d*} Determined from SEC measurement in CHCl₃ using polystyrene standards.



Figure 2.3. ¹H NMR spectra in CDCl₃ of the obtained CAs (Table 2.1, Runs 1-5).



Figure 2.4 ¹H NMR spectra in CDCl₃ of the recovered EmimOAc after the cellulose modification reactions (Table 2.1, Runs 1-5).



Figure 2.5 SEC traces of the obtained CA (solvent, CHCl₃; flow rate, 1.0 mL min⁻¹).

2.5.2 Scaling up and expanding the polysaccharide source for the organocatalytic transesterifications in EmimOAc/DMSO mixed solvent systems

As precisely discussed in the previous section, the facile recyclability and reusability of the employed EmimOAc were validated. Next, we turned our attention to a practical aspect of the cellulose modification protocol. In order to provide a robust and reliable synthetic protocol, scalability of the reaction system should be addressed because a large scale synthesis might face difficulties owing to a difference in reaction scale itself. Along with the scalability of the reaction system, the polysaccharide source should be considered because polysaccharides are naturally occurring polymers and thus can be obtained from a range of natural sources. Apart from synthetic polymers, the source of naturally occurring polymers shows a decisive impact on their materials natures despite their identical monomeric structures. In the case of cellulose, the cellulose source could lead to a clear discrepancy in its molecular weights. In this context, we verified a tolerance of our synthetic protocol toward above-mentioned points. First, scaling-up of our previously reported protocol with standard cellulose of avicel was targeted as shown in Run 5 (Table 2.1). The reaction scale of the cellulose modification reaction was increased by 20 times, corresponding to the scale shift from 120 mg to 2.4 g without any optimization and special caution. As expected, the organocatalytic transesterification of cellulose was successfully achieved on gram scale by simply scaling up the original reaction conditions, demonstrating that the reported synthetic protocol is indeed reliable and robust. Next, a range of cellulose source was utilized for the cellulose modification reactions. In addition to avicel, pulps and rayon were examined as the cellulose source (Runs $6 \sim 10$, Table 2.2) where pulp based cellulose is known to show higher molecular weight than that of avicel. Regardless of the employed cellulose source, the synthetic protocol realized facile conversion of cellulose into cellulose acetates with high DS values (~ 2.9).

Run	Cellulose (source)	DS values ^b	$M_{ m n,SEC}$ c	$M_{ m w}/M_{ m n}$ c
6	Cellulose (avicel)	2.88	40,600	2.95
7	Cellulose (Rayon)	2.86	40,300	2.60
8	Cellulose (Pulp C)	2.91	125,200	1.87
9	Cellulose (Pulp B)	2.94	211,400	3.70
10	Cellulose (Pulp A)	2.96	517,600	2.02

Table 2.2 A large scale cellulose modification reactions by using a range of cellulose sources^a

^{*a*} The reaction conditions for the transesterification reactions of cellulose with IPA are as follows; 6g of EmimOAc as a solvent and an organocatalyst; the reaction was conducted for 18 hours; 80 mL of DMSO was used as a co-solvent; 2.4 g of cellulose was used as a starting compound; initial [IPA]/[OH] was adjusted to be 2.5/1; argon atmosphere. ^{*b*} Determined by ¹H NMR measurements in DMSO-*d*₆. ^{*c*} Determined from SEC measurement in CHCl₃ using polystyrene standards. ^{*d*} insoluble in CHCl₃ under the SEC measurement condition.

2.5.3 Physicochemical characterizations of cellulose derivatives synthesized by using EmimOAc or EmimOAc/DMSO with various ester donating reagents

FT-IR analysis: The transesterification reaction of cellulose could lead to the substitution of OH groups in cellulose with carbonyl groups, which can be confirmed by FT-IR spectra with scanning range from 500 to 4000 cm⁻¹ depicted in Figure 2.6. In the IR spectrum of unmodified cellulose (A), there are several discernible peaks between 930 cm⁻¹ and 1200 cm⁻¹, which were attributed to the characteristic absorption of cellulose backbone. The peaks at 1080 and 1021 cm⁻¹ were ascribed to C-O bond stretching of C-O-C group in the anhydrous glucose ring, and the characteristic peak at 1155 and 930 cm⁻¹ was due to the stretching of the C-OH bond in anhydroglucose units (AGU) and the whole glucose ring stretching vibrations, respectively.^{77, 78} In addition, an extremely broad band at 3390 cm⁻¹ was originated from the vibration of the hydroxyl groups (O-H) of cellulose.



Figure 2.6 FT-IR spectra of cellulose (A), CA–Run 11 (B) and CBu-Run 15 (C), CPiv-Run 13 (D), CBn-Run 12 (E), and CAPiv-Run 14 (F).

IR measurements of all the obtained cellulose derivatives indicated that the clear band at 1730 cm⁻¹ due to the ester stretching developed after reaction. FT-IR spectrum of CA-Run 11 (B) showed some new absorption peaks besides the characteristic absorption peaks of cellulose. The peak at 1730 cm⁻¹ was attributed to carbonyl C=O vibrations, and the absorption bands at 1365 and 1211 cm⁻¹ were associated with CH₃ symmetry deformation vibration and C-O stretching vibration, respectively,⁶⁷ these peaks were also observed in the spectrum of CBu-Run 15 (C),

the peaks between 2871 and 2961 cm⁻¹ due to C-H stretching.⁷⁹ FT-IR spectra of CPiv-Run 13 (D) and CAPiv-Run 14 (F) showed some new absorption peaks at 1730 cm⁻¹ for C=O, the peaks at 2961 and 2871 cm⁻¹ for C-H stretching, the peaks at 1480, 1456, 1394 cm⁻¹ for ν (C(CH₃)₃, the peak at 1277cm⁻¹ for (C-O-C).⁸⁰ FT-IR spectrum of CBn-Run 12 (E) provided some important peaks at 1730 cm⁻¹ for C=O stretching in ester, 1259 cm⁻¹ for stretching of (O) C-O, 1600 and 1450 cm⁻¹ for aromatic C=C stretching and 704 cm⁻¹ for the out-of-plane C-H bending of the monosubstituted benzene.⁸¹

¹**H NMR analysis:** Representative ¹H NMR spectra of CA (Run 6-11), CBn CPiv, CAPiv and CBu (Runs 12-15) are shown in Figure 2.7 and Figure 2.8.



Figure 2.7 ¹H NMR spectra of CA synthesized from different cellulose materials recorded in DMSO- d_6 (Runs 6-10) and CDCl₃ (Run 11).

The peaks arising from the ring-protons of the sugar backbone were seen in the region ranging between 3.0 and 5.3 ppm. The signals of protons of acetyl groups (CH₃) appeared in the spectra between 1.6 and 2.3 ppm,⁶⁷ from 1.1 to 1.23 ppm (CH₃-pivalate).⁸¹ The signals of protons in CBu (Run 15) spectrum appeared

at 0.92 ppm (-CH₂-CH₂-CH₃), 1.6 ppm (-CH₂-CH₂-CH₃), and 2.3 ppm (-CH₂-CH₂-CH₃), which confirm the butyration of cellulose.



Figure 2.8 ¹H NMR spectra of CBn-Run 12 recorded in acetone- d_6 , CPiv-Run 13, CAPiv-Run 14, and CBu-Run 15 recorded in CDCl₃.

The signals observed in spectrum of CBn (Run 12) from 6.8 to 8.2 ppm due to phenyl protons,⁸² The solvent peaks from DMSO, CDCl₃ and the peak of residual water are located at 2.5 ppm, 7.25 ppm and 3.33 ppm, respectively. Based on these data, the cellulose derivatives were confirmed the successful syntheses of CA, CBu, CPiv, CBn and CAPiv which were formed during the transesterification process using the EmimOAc or EmimOAc/DMSO mixed solvent.

Degree of substitution (DS): The DS values of these cellulose derivatives were determined to provide a detailed structural insight into the synthesized cellulose derivatives. The DS values were calculated based on ¹H NMR measurements of the cellulose derivatives that were obtained by the benzoylation reactions of the obtained cellulose derivatives with benzoyl chloride in CHCl₃ with Net₃ as a proton scavenger.⁶⁷ The DS values of cellulose derivatives synthesized in EmimOAc and EmimOAc/DMSO under various conditions are presented in Table 2.3.

Kun (amount / mg) / g (amount / ml) /ml / h 11 Filter paper (120) 4 IPA (4) - 18 2.93 12 Rayon (2400) 6 VBn (98) 80 1 2.78 13 Rayon (2400) 6 VBn (98) 80 1 2.55 14 Avicel (240) 6 VPiv (104) 80 1 2.55 14 Avicel (240) 8 VPiv (0.44) - 16 1.27 15 Avicel (240) 0.189 VBu (7.3) 2 18 2.93 16 Avicel (240) 8 VPiv (0.73) - 16 1.26 17 Avicel (240) 8 IPA (0.33) - 16 1.01 17 Avicel (240) 8 IPA (0.33) - 16 1.01 17 Avicel (240) 8 IPA (0.33) - 16 1.01 17 Avicel (240) 8 IPA (0.33) <th>Dun</th> <th>Starting material</th> <th>EmimOAc</th> <th>Ester reagents</th> <th>DMSO</th> <th>Time</th> <th colspan="2">DS</th>	Dun	Starting material	EmimOAc	Ester reagents	DMSO	Time	DS	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Kull	(amount / mg)	ount / mg) / g		/ml	/ h	D8	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	11	Filter paper (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	18	2.93	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	12	Rayon (2400)	6	VBn (98)	80	1	2.78	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13	Rayon (2400)	6	VPiv (104)	80	1	2.55	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	14	Avicel (240)	Q	VPiv (0.44)		16	1.27	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			0	IPA (9.23)	-	+3	+1.39	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	15	Avicel (240)	0.189	VBu (7.3)	2	18	2.93	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	16	Avicel (240)	Q	VPiv (0.73)		16	1.26	
17Avicel (240)8IPA (0.33)161.01 $VPiv (11.0)$ -+3+1.45			0	IPA (9.23)	-	+3	+1.42	
VPiv (11.0) +3 +1.45	17	Avicel (240)	Q	IPA (0.33)		16	1.01	
			0	VPiv (11.0)	-	+3	+1.45	

Table 2.3 Synthesis of cellulose derivatives with various DS value at 80°C under different conditions

The DS values of CA (Run 6-11: avicel, rayon, pulp C, B, A, and filter paper) synthesized for 18h at 80°C were calculated by 2.96, 2.94, 2.91, 2.96, 2.88, and 2.93, respectively. CBn-Run 12, CPiv-Run 13 were synthesized from rayon for 1h also presented high DS of 2.78 and 2.55, respectively. The DS value of CBu-Run 15 was calculated by 2.93. Regioselective CAPiv-Run 14, 16-17 (from Avicel) were carried out showing the DS_{*acetyl*} of 1.27, 1.26, 1.01 and the DS_{*pivaloyl*} of 1.39, 1.42 and 1.45, respectively. The results showed that the high efficient TER of cellulose from different cellulose materials in a homogeneous system composed EmimOAc and EmimOAc/co-solvent DMSO without any additional catalysts and corrosive chemicals were successfully proceeded.

2.6 Conclusions

As successfully demonstrated, the Im-IL catalyzed transesterification was revealed to show not only robustness on gram-scale synthesis but also sufficient green nature with high recyclability. The TER of a series of cellulose materials using homogeneous system composed EmimOAc or EmimOAc/DMSO with IPA/VBu/VPiv/VBn as donating ester reagents without using additional catalysts and corrosive chemicals were successfully accomplished affording cellulose derivatives. The structural characterization of the obtained products were confirmed by FT-IR and ¹H NMR analyses indicated that CA, CBu, CPiv, CBn and CAPiv with high DS values were successfully synthesized in short reaction time. The $M_{n,SEC}$ and M_w/M_n were determined by the SEC measurements, which indicated the Im-IL-catalyzed TER was the mild reaction without any cellulose decompositions. The chemical modification of various cellulose sources in EmimOAc or EmimOAc/DMSO mixed solvent is a sustainable and effective method for synthesizing cellulose derivatives in industry. The obtained results should shed light on the synthetic utility of Im-ILs in polymer sciences from the view point of not only a green solvent but also a recyclable organocatalyst.

2.7 References

- 1 G. Fan, M. Wang, C. Liao, T. Fang, and R. Zhou, *Carbohydrate polymers.*, 2013, 94, 71-76.
- 2 M. Balat and H. Balat, *Applied Energy.*, 2011, **86 (11)**, 2273-2282.
- 3 D. R. Dodds and R. A. Gross, *Science.*, 2007, **318** (5854), 1250-1251.
- 4 A. Gandini, *Macromolecules.*, 2008, **41(24)**, 9491-9504.
- 5 Y. Habibi, L. A. Lucia and O. J. Rojas, *Chemical Reviews*, 2010, **110 (6)**, 3479-3500.
- J. Ohlrogge, D. Allen, B. Berguson, D. DellaPenna, Y. Shachar-Hill and S. Stymne., *Science.*, 2009, **324** (5930), 1019-1020.
- 7 M. L. Imhoff, L. Bounoua, T. Ricketts, C. Loucks, R. Harriss and W. Lawrence, *Nature.*, 2004, **429**, 870-873.
- 8 O. Jogunola, V. Eta, M. Hedenstrom, O. Sundman, T. Salmi and J. P. Mikkola, *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 2016, **135**, 341-348.
- 9 W. Hu, S. Chen, J. Yang, Z. Li and H. Wang, *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 2014, **101 (1)**, 1043-1060.
- 10 K. J. Edgar, C. M. Buchanan, J. S. Debenham, P. A. Rundquist and B. D. Seiler, *Progress in Polymer Science.*, 2001, **26**, 1605-1688.
- 11 D. Aoki, Y. Teramoto and Y. Nishio, *Biomacromolecules.*, 2007, 8 (12), 3749-3757.
- 12 W. G. Glasser, Macromol. Symp., 2004, 208, 371-394.
- 13 S. Fischer, K. Thummler, B. Volkert, K. Hettrich, I. Chmidt and K. Fischer, *Macromolecular Symposia.*, 2008, **262** (1), 89-96.
- 14 T. Heinze and T. Liebert, *Macromolecular Symposia.*, 2004, **208** (1), 167-237.
- 15 T. Heinze, T. Liebert and A. Koschella, New York: Springer Laboratory., 2006, 41-116.
- 16 T. Heinze, R. Dicke, A. Koschella, A. H. Kull, E. -A. Klohr and W. Koch,

Macromolecular Chemistry and Physics., 2000, 201 (6), 627-631.

- 17 B. A. P. Ass, E. Frollini and T. Heinze, *Macromolecular Bioscience.*, 2004, 4 (11), 1008-1013.
- 18 C. Deus, H. Friebolin and E. Siefert, *Die Makromolekulare Chemie*, 1991, 192 (1), 75-83.
- 19 D. L. Morgado, B. V. M. Rodrigues, E. V. R. Almeida, O. A. El Seoud and E. Frollini, *Materials.*, 2013, 6 (6), 2410-2435.
- 20 B. Tosh, C. N. Saikia and N. N. Dass, *Carbohydrate Research.*, 2000, 327 (3), 345-352.
- 21 J. Chen, J. Xu, K. Wang, X Cao and R. Sun, *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 2016, 137, 685-692.
- 22 C. Y. Chen, M. J. Chen, X. Q. Zhang, C. F. Liu and R- C. Sun, J. Agric. Food. Chem., 2014, 62, 3446-3452.
- 23 C. Achtel and T. Heinze, Macromol. Chem. Phys., 2016, 1-8.
- 24 J. Shi, J. Stein, S. Kabasci and H. Pang, J. Chem. Eng. Data., 2013, 58, 197-202.
- 25 P. Wassercheid and T. Welton, J. Chin. Chem. Soc., 2008, 55 (4), 716-723.
- 26 P. Wassercheid and W. Keim, *Angewandte Chemie International Edition.*, 2000, **39**, 3772-3789.
- 27 R. P. Swatloski, S. K. Spear, J. D. Holbrey and R. D. Rogers, *Journal of the American Chemical Society.*, 2002, **124**, 4974-4975.
- 28 J. Zhang, J. Wu, H. Zhang and J. He, Macromolecules, 2005, 38, 8272-8277.
- 29 N. V. Plechkova and K. R Seddon, *Chemical Society Reviews.*, 2008, **37**, 123-150.
- 30 J. Wu, J. Zhang, H. Zhang, J. He, Q. Ren and M. Guo, *Biomacromolecules.*, 2004, 5, 266-268.
- 31 A. Abbott, T. Bell, S Handa and B. Stoddart, Green Chemistry., 2005, 7,

705-707.

- 32 D. Enders, O. Niemeier, and A. Henseler, *Chem. Rev.*, 2007, **107** (12), 5606-5655.
- 33 T. James, M. van Gemmeren, and B. List, *Chem. Rev.*, 2015, **115** (17), 9388-9409.
- 34 S. Bertelsen and K. A. Jorgensen, Chem. Soc. Rev., 2009, **38 (8)**, 2178-2189.
- 35 P. R. Schreiner, Chem. Soc. Rev., 2003, 32 (5), 289-296.
- 36 Z. Zhang and P. R. Schreiner, Chem. Soc. Rev., 2009, 38 (4), 1187-1198.
- 37 M. N. Hopkinson, C. Richter, M. Schedler, and F. Glorius, *Nature.*, 2014, 510 (7506), 485-496.
- 38 A. P. Dove, R. C. Pratt, B. G. G. Lohmeijer, D. A. Culkin, E. C. Hagberg,
 G. W. Nyce, R. M. Waymouth, and J. L. Hedrick, *Polymer.*, 2006, 47 (11), 4018-4025.
- 39 A. P. Dove, R. C. Pratt, B. G. G. Lohmeijer, R. M. Waymouth, and J. L. Hedrick, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2005, **127** (40), 13798-13799.
- 40 F. Nederberg, E. F. Connor, M. Möller, T. Glauser, and J. L. Hedrick, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2001, 40 (14), 2712-2715.
- 41 O. Coulembier, D. P. Sanders, A. Nelson, A. N. Hollenbeck, H. W. Horn, J. E. Rice, M. Fujiwara, P. Dubois, and J. L. Hedrick, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2009, 48 (28), 5170-5173.
- 42 F. Sanda, H. Sanada, Y. Shibasaki, and T. Endo, *Macromolecules.*, 2002, 35 (3), 680-683.
- 43 A. Chuma, H. W. Horn, W. C. Swope, R. C. Pratt, L. Zhang, B. G. G. Lohmeijer, C. G. Wade, R. M. Waymouth, J. L. Hedrick, and J. E. Rice, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2008, 130 (21), 6749-6754.
- 44 L. Zhang, F. Nederberg, R. C. Pratt, R. M. Waymouth, J. L. Hedrick, and C. G. Wade, *Macromolecules.*, 2007, 40 (12), 4154-4158.

- 45 D. Bourissou, B. Martin-Vaca, A. Dumitrescu, M. Graullier, and F. Lacombe, *Macromolecules.*, 2005, **38 (24)**, 9993-9998.
- 46 J. Raynaud, C. Absalon, Y. Gnanou, and D. Taton, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2009, **131 (9)**, 3201-3209.
- 47 J. Raynaud, C. Absalon, Y. Gnanou, and D. Taton, *Macromolecules.*, 2010,
 43 (6), 2814-2823.
- 48 H. Misaka, R. Sakai, T. Satoh, and T. Kakuchi, *Macromolecules.*, 2011, 44 (23), 9099-9107.
- 49 B. G. G. Lohmeijer, G. Dubois, F. Leibfarth, R. C. Pratt, F. Nederberg, A. Nelson, R. M. Waymouth, C. Wade, and J. L. Hedrick, *Organic Letters.*, 2006, 8 (21), 4683-4686.
- 50 K. Fuchise, Y. Chen, T. Satoh, and T. Kakuchi, *Polym. Chem.*, 2013, **4** (16), 4278-4291.
- 51 M. Fevre, J. Vignolle, V. Heroguez, and D. Taton, *Macromolecules.*, 2012, **45 (19)**, 7711-7718.
- 52 J. Raynaud, Y. Gnanou, and D. Taton, *Macromolecules.*, 2009, **42 (16)**, 5996-6005.
- 53 J. Raynaud, N. Liu, Y. Gnanou, and D. Taton, *Macromolecules.*, 2010, 43 (21), 8853-8861.
- 54 M. D. Scholten, J. L. Hedrick, and R. M. Waymouth, *Macromolecules.*, 2008, **41 (20)**, 7399-7404.
- 55 Y. Zhang, F. Lay, P. García-García, B. List, and E. Y. X. Chen, *Chem. Eur. J.*, 2010, **16 (34)**, 10462-10473.
- 56 J. Pinaud, K. Vijayakrishna, D. Taton, and Y. Gnanou, *Macromolecules.*, 2009, **42 (14)**, 4932-4936.
- 57 S.-i. Matsuoka, S. Namera, and M. Suzuki, *Polym. Chem.*, 2015, **6** (2), 294-301.
- 58 R. Kakuchi, K. Wongsanoh, V. P. Hoven, and P. Theato, J. Polym. Sci. Part

A., 2014, **52 (9)**, 1353-1358.

- 59 M. Fevre, J. Pinaud, Y. Gnanou, J. Vignolle, and D. Taton, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2013, **42 (5)**, 2142-72.
- 60 L. Mespouille, O. Coulembier, M. Kawalec, A. P. Dove and P. Dubois, *Prog.Polym. Sci.*, 2014, **39 (6)**, 1144-1164.
- 61 M. Hong and E. Y. Chen, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 2016, 55 (13), 4188-93.
- 62 R. R. Gowda and E. Y. X. Chen, ACS Macro Lett., 2016, 5 (6), 772-776.
- 63 Y. Zhang, M. Schmitt, L. Falivene, L. Caporaso, L. Cavallo, and E. Y. Chen, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2013, 135 (47), 17925-42.
- 64 A. Schenzel, A. Hufendiek, C. Barner-Kowollik and M. A. R Meier, *Green. Chem.*, 2014, **16**, 3266-3271.
- 65 C. Y. Chen, M. J. Chen, X. Q. Zhang, C. F. Liu and R. C. Sun, J. Agric. Food. Chem., 2014, 62 (15), 3446-52.
- 66 R. Kakuchi, R. Ito, S. Nomura, H. Abroshan, K. Ninomiya, T. Ikai, K. Maeda, H. J. Kim and K. Takahashi, *RSC Adv.*, 2017, **7 (16)**, 9423-9430.
- 67 R. Kakuchi, M. Yamaguchi, T. Endo, Y. Shibata, K. Ninomiya, T. Ikai, K. Maeda and K. Takahashi, RSC Adv., 2015, 5 (88), 72071-72074.
- 68 L. P. Hinner, J. L. Wissner, A. Beurer, B. A. Nebel and B. Hauer, *Green Chem.*, 2016, **18 (22)**, 6099-6107.
- 69 G. Cheng, P. Varanasi, R. Arora, V. Stavila and B. A. Simmons, *J. Phys. Chem. B.*, 2012, **116**, 10049-10054.
- 70 H. Oldamur, G. Dirk, M. Klemens, S. László, N. Balázs, V. Tamás and N. László, New J. Chem., 2010, 34, 3004-3009.
- 71 D. Y. Xing, S. Y. Chan and T. S Chung, *Green Chem.*, 2014, **16**, 1383-1392.
- 72 D. Klemm, B. Heublein, H. -P. Fink, and A. Bohn, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2005, **44 (22)**, 3358-3393.
- 73 M. Gericke, P. Fardim, and T. Heinze, *Molecules.*, 2012, 17 (6), 7458-502.

- 74 Z. Kelemen, O. Holloczki, J. Nagy, and L. Nyulaszi, *Org. Biomol. Chem.*, 2011, **9 (15)**, 5362-5364.
- 75 K. Schlufter, H. -P. Schmauder, S. Dorn, and T. Heinze, *Macromol. Rapid Commun.*, 2006, **27 (19)**, 1670-1676.
- 76 V. W. Goodlett, J. T. Dougherty and H. W. Patton, *J Polym Sci Polym Chem.*, 1971, **9**, 155-161.
- 77 H. Chi, K. Xu, D. Xue, C. Song, W. Zang and P. Wang, *Food Res Int.*, 2007, **40**, 232-238.
- 78 S. Mathew and T. E. Abraham, Food Chemistry., 2007, 105, 579-589.
- 79 B. Tosh, Indian Journal of Chemical Technology., 2011, 18, 451-457.
- 80 D. Xu, B. Li, C. Tate and K. J. Edgar, Cellulose., 2011, 18, 405-419.
- 81 J. Zhang, J. Wu, Y. Cao, S. Sang, J. Zhang and J. He, *Cellulose.*, 2009, 16, 299-308.
- 82 M. Acemoglu, E. Kusters, J. Baumann, I. Hernandez and C. P. Mak, *Chirality.*, 1998, **10**, 294-306.

Chapter 3 Synthesis and characterization of xylan, dextrin, pullulan derivatives and kinetic evolution of the TER of polysaccharides in EmimOAc

In this chapter, the Im-IL catalyzed transesterification was applied to other kinds of polysaccharides such as xylan, dextrin, and pullulan. In order to show the applicability of the Im-IL catalyzed transesterifications, the EmimOAc-catalyzed cellulose modification, which mentioned in previous chapter, was expanded to gram-scale reaction. The TER of xylan, dextrin and pullulan was investigated using the homogeneous system composed EmimOAc or EmimOAc/DMSO with IPA or VBu as esterification reagents without using additional catalysts and corrosive chemicals. FT-IR and ¹H NMR measurements were used confirming the successful synthesis of high DS values of xylan, dextrin, and pullulan derivatives bearing acetyl and butyryl groups. In addition, SEC measurements indicated that the obtained products had no decomposed compound during the EmimOAccatalyszed TER. The amount of IPA, reaction time and temperature are important factors, which significantly affected on the efficiency of TER of polysaccharides in EmimOAc. The thermal stability (based on the TGA measurement), and the solubility behavior of these polysaccharide derivatives in commercial organic solvents were significantly improved after transesterification.

3.1 Introduction

Recently, the environmental pollution, climate change and energy security are global issues because of the increasing rate of petroleum usage and the depletion of its reserves. The necessary to look for an alternative and renewable materials has been required to replace the petroleum-based resources, which were mainly used to produce fuels, chemical and materials. Plant biomass has been considered as a potential renewable resources because it supplies a huge amount of polysaccharides. Plant polysaccharides, a group of biopolymers such as cellulose and starch which have been isolated and used as substrates for chemical modification to produce plastics, films and nanofibers.¹⁻³

Hemicelluloses are a class of heteropolysaccharides which were extracted from plant cell wall by water and/or aqueous alkali.⁴ After cellulose, hemicelluloses are the second most abundant polysaccharide family which comprise about 25-35% of the plant's materials, forest and agricultural wastes.⁵⁻⁸ Hemicelluloses are divided into four general classes due to the differences of structural polysaccharide types such as xylans, mannans, glucans and xyloglucan.⁹

Hemicellulose chains are formed by the majority of β -(1 \rightarrow 4) D-xylopyranoside monomer units which are maned xylans (Figure 3.1). Xylans can be found in hardwood species, grasses and agro-industrial by-products such as cereal straws, sugarcane



Figure 3.1 Structure of xylan

bagasse, corn stover and wood sawdust.¹⁰ Xylan comprises 10-15% in softwoods, 10-35% in hardwoods up to 40% of agricultural residues in annual plants dry weight.¹¹ Chemical modifications of xylan, especially esterification is one of the most important procedure to introduce the functional groups with various valuable properties into structure of xylan. The obtained xylan esters with lower hydrophilicity can be applied as bioactive polymers,¹² biodegradable plastics,¹³ and coating materials in paint industry.¹⁴ Using alkaline catalyst in polar solvents

is a standard method for producing hemicellulose esters with high DS values from corn cob under optimized conditions.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ The esterification of arabinoxylan from wheat straw or rye straw in homogeneous system of DMA/LiCl as a solvent in the presence of DMAP as a catalyst and acetic anhydride or HCl as esterifying reagents had already been explored and developed.¹⁸⁻²² The esterification of anhydrous gel of wheat straw hemicellulose was improved by using DMF/LiCl in the presence of *N*-bromosuccinimide (NBS) as a catalyst under conditions of microwave heating for 5min at 78°C resulting the DS up to 1.34.²³ Xylan acetates with different DS values were successfully synthesized in homogeneous conditions of DMF/LiCl/acetic anhydride/DMAP and listed in Table 3.1.²⁴

 Table 3.1 Degree of substitution (DS) of and yield of xylan acetate synthesized

 under various conditions in DMF/LiCl

Entry	Ac ₂ O	Temp	Time	DS	Conversion	Mass yield
	(equiv/X.U)	(°C)	(h)		(%)	(%)
1	1	85	2	0.9	90	87
2	3	85	2	2.0	67	75
3	1.5	85	2	1.4	93	81
4	1.5	35	2	1.2	80	84
5	1.5	65	2	1.4	93	83
6	1.5	85	1	1.4	93	84
7	1.5	85	4	1.5	100	77

Synthesis of xylan acetates were conducted by homogeneous system in DMAC/LiCl/pyridine at 50°C resulting complete acetylation within 6 h.²⁵ Xylan esters with different alkyl chain lengths (C2-C12) were also synthesized by heterogeneous and homogeneous reactions and depicted in Scheme 3.1.²⁶



Scheme 3.1 Schematic representation of xylan esters in heterogeneous or homogeneous systems

Dextrin is low-molecular weight polysaccharide synthesized by acid or/and enzymatic partial hydrolysis of starch or glycogen. The structure of dextrin is consisted of α -(1 \rightarrow 4) linked D-glucose structure of amylose and the α -(1 \rightarrow 4) and lower polymerization of α -(1 \rightarrow 4,6) linked D-glucose branched structure of

amylopectin (Figure 3.2).^{27,28} The degree of hydrolysis is indicated in terms of dextrose equivalent (DE). The same DE dextrin can display different properties such as hygroscopicity, fermentability,



Figure 3.2 Structure of dextrin²⁸

viscosity, sweetness, stability, solubility, and bioavailability because of distinct structural features,²⁹ the source of the native starch and the hydrolysis conditions. Dextrin is known a natural and processed carbohydrate-based raw polymeric material, generally regarded as safe (GRAS),³⁰ renewable, biodegradable, and non-toxic.^{31, 32} It is applied widely in industry such as adhesives, foods, textiles and cosmetics,³³ drug delivery solution^{34, 35} and wound dressing agent.³⁶ Dextrin-based

hydrogels were created by radical polymerization.³⁷⁻⁴⁰ Oxidized dextrin hydrogel cross-linked using adipic acid dihydrazide was described.⁴¹ Stearic acid dextrin ester was synthesized by using lipase as a catalyst.⁴² The characterization of cationic dextrin obtained by ultrahigh pressure-assisted cationization reaction between dextrin and 2,3-epoxypropyltrimethylammonium chloride was discussed.⁴³

Pullulan is introduced firstly in 1938 by Bauer obtaining from fermented starch broth by strain of fungus *Aureobasidium pullulans*.⁴⁴ Pullulan is a linear polysaccharide, its structure consists of α -(1→4) glycosidic bond within maltotriose repeating units, which is connected by α -(1→6) linkages (Figure 3.3).⁴⁵



Figure 3.3. Structure of pullulan

Pullulan is high molecular weight from 4.5×10^4 to 6×10^5 Da depending cultivation conditions such as culture strain, pH and substrates used.⁴⁶ Because of its unique structure, pullulan has valuable properties such as water-soluble, non-ionic, blood compatible, biodegradable, non-toxic, non-immunogenic, non-mutagenic and non-carcinogenic,⁴⁷ adhesive ability, fiber forming capacity, and thin biodegradable films, which are transparent and impermeable to oxygen.⁴⁵ Pullulan has been used in various fields especially in food manufacturing and pharmaceutical industry. The applications of pullulan have been reviewed comprehensively.^{47.49}

Pullulan modification methods have been developed and reported. The synthesis and characterizations of palmitoyl⁵⁰ and cholesteryl⁵¹ modified pullulan derivatives, and the synthesis of adenine, thymine, and pyrene modified pullulan derivatives.⁵² Chloroalkylation,⁵³ nitroalkylation,⁵⁴ alkyl etherification,⁵⁵ and modification with isocyanates⁵⁶ and mesyl chloride⁵⁷ have also been carried out and reported. The modification of pullulan acetate for adhesives,⁵⁸ and the plasticization of pullulan with acetic anhydride have been reported.⁵⁹ The morphology and self-association behavior of pullulan acetate has been investigated to control drug release.⁶⁰ Pullulan acetate was prepared by the reaction of pullulan with acetyl chloride in the presence of pyridine without reducing molecular weight, and thermal, mechanical and biodegradable properties were described and depicted in Scheme 3.3.⁶¹ Recently, ionic liquids, new class of solvents has emerged. These solvents are often fluid at or close to room temperature.⁶² ILs have many fascinating properties such as very low vapor pressure.⁶³ Therefore, ILs can be used to replace the employment of volatile organic compounds (VOCs), a significant source of environmental pollution.⁶⁴ ILs have been enormous concerns as media for green synthesis. ILs were used as a solvent for acetylation of hemicellulose with the catalyst of iodine resulting DS values of products from 0.49 to 1.53.65 However, the employment of ILs for synthesis of dextrin and pullulan derivatives has not been reported.





This chapter presents the synthesis of xylan, dextrin, and pullulan derivatives by the EmimOAc or EmimOAc/DMSO catalyzed TER with the donation of IPA and VBu. The reaction-scale of the TER of these polysaccharides in a mixed solvent of EmimOAc and DMSO was expanded by 20 times of initial starting compounds (Scheme 3.3). In addition, the modification of the polysaccharides was explored by the kinetic evolution changing the amount of IPA, reaction time, and reaction temperature. Moreover, the thermal properties of the obtained derivatives were also characterized by TGA. Finally, the solubility behavior of these polysaccharide esters in commercial organic solvents was also investigated.

3.2 Materials

1-Ethyl-3-methylimidazorium acetate (EmimOAc; 95 %), dichloromethane, methanol, chloroform, deuterated NMR solvents (DMSO-*d*₆, CDCl₃-*d*,) were purchased from Kanto Chemical Co., Inc., and used without further purification. For ester reagents, the isopropenyl acetate (IPA) (99%) was available from the Sigma-Aldrich Chemicals Co., vinyl butyrate (VBu) were purchased from Tokyo Chemical Industry Co., Ltd, Japan and used as received. As the polysaccharide sources, xylan and pullulan were purchased from Tokyo Chemical Industry Co., Ltd, Japan, dextrin was purchased from Nacalai, Kyoto, Japan. All other chemicals such as dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, anhydrous >99.9%), benzoyl chloride were commercially available and used without further purification unless otherwise stated.

3.3. Characterization methods

The FT-IR spectra were observed by a Thermo Fisher Scientific Nicolet iS10 equipped with an ATR unit. All the ¹H NMR spectra were recorded by JEOL 400 and 600 MHz FT-NMR spectrometers in solution of products (10mg) dissolved in 800μ L of deuterated solvents (such as DMSO-d₆, CDCl₃-d) the chemical shifts (δ) were given in ppm as either the solvent peak or TMS as the internal standard. The Degree of substitution (DS) values of the XA, XBu, DA, DBu, PuA and PuBu were determined by ¹H NMR measurements of the xylan, dextrin and pullulan derivatives and that were obtained by the reaction of these derivatives with an excess amount of benzoyl chloride. The typical procedure is as follows: A solution of the these derivatives (100 mg, 347 µmol), 4 mL CHCl₃, benzoyl chloride (440 mg, 3.1 mmol) and triethylamine (318 mg, 3.1 mmol) was stirred for 24h at room temperature. The reaction mixture was then poured into a large amount of MeOH to precipitate the products. The obtained products were collected by filtration and dried under vacuum conditions. In order to avoid potential overlapping of the aromatic protons and solvent peak, NMR measurements were conducted in DMSO-d₆. The DS values of XA and XBu were

calculated using the following equation (1) the DS values PuA, PuBu, of DA and DBu were determined by the followed equation (2):

(1)
$$DS = \frac{peak \ area \ (CH3)/3}{peak \ area \ (CH3)/3 + peak \ area \ (7.0 \sim 8.5 ppm)/5} \ x \ 2$$

(2)
$$DS = \frac{peak \ area \ (CH3)/3}{peak \ area \ (CH3)/3 + peak \ area \ (7.0 \sim 8.5 ppm)/5} \ x \ 3$$

For the kinetic evolution of DS values for XA and PuA synthesized by TER in EmimOAc, the DS values of XA was calculated by the equation $(3)^{24}$ and the DS values of PuA was determined using the equation $(4)^{66}$

$$DS = \frac{6Imethyl}{3Icarbohdrate}$$

Where: I_{methyl}: area of methyl protons of esters chains at 1.9-2ppm

Lcarbohydrate: sum of areas of six protons in anhydroxylose unit

(4)
$$DS = \frac{peak \ area \ (CH3)/3}{peak \ area \ (ring \ H)/7}$$

Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) was performed on a DTG-60AH instrument (Shimadzu) with a heating rate of 10°C/min under nitrogen atmosphere. The decomposition temperature (T_d) was determined as the onset temperature of decline in the TGA chart. Size exclusion chromatography (SEC) measurements for xylan, dextrin, and pullulan derivatives were performed at 40°C using Prominence gel permeation chromatography (GPC) system (DGU-20A degassing unit, LC-20AD pump, SIL-20A HT auto sampler, CTO-20A column oven, and RID-20A refractive index detector) with two shodex KF-806L columns. The number average molecular weight ($M_{n,SEC}$) and polydispersity (M_w/M_n) were determined by the RI based on polystyrene standards (PStQuick A and PStQuick C). In the

solubility check, ten milligram of the obtained products were dissolved in various organic solvents. The solubility behavior was observed.

3.4 Synthesis of xylan, dextrin and pullulan derivatives

Synthesis of xylan acetate (XA-Run 27-35, Table 3.2): In a schlenk flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer, 120mg of xylan and 4g of EmimOAc as a catalyst and solvent were added. The mixture was heated at 80°C using oil bath for 3h under vacuum condition to dissolve xylan completely. Then, 4mL of IPA was added to the mixture under an argon atmosphere and stirred from 5min to 16h at 80°C. At the end of the reaction, the mixture was diluted with CH_2Cl_2 and poured slowly into a large amount of methanol and filtered in duplicate to get purified polymer. The obtained product was dried in a vacuum oven for 24h at 50°C. Yield: 85.9mg

Synthesis of xylan vinyl butyrate (XB-Run 36, Table 3.2): In a schlenk flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer and a condenser, 240mg of xylan and EmimOAc as a catalyst (0.25 mole equivalent) was added. The mixture was heated at 80°C using oil bath for 3h in vacuum condition. Then, 2mL DMSO was added as a solvent to dissolve the mixture under an argon atmosphere. Thereafter, VBu with the amount is 16 mole equivalent to molar amount of hydroxyl group in an anhydroxylose unit (XU) was added to the mixture and stirred for 18h. At the end of the reaction, the mixture was evaporated and poured slowly in methanol and filtered in duplicate. The obtained product was dried in a vacuum oven for 24h at 50°C. Yield: 264mg

Synthesis of dextrin acetate (DA- Run 38-55, Table 3.3): In a 25mL schlenk flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer, 120mg of dextrin (3wt%) and 4g of EmimOAc as a catalyst and solvent were added and heated to 80°C using oil bath for 3h under vacuum condition to get complete dextrin dissolution. Then, various concentrations of IPA to the OH groups ratios were added to this solution under an argon atmosphere and stirred from 5min to 18 hours at a range of temperature between 40 and 80°C. At the end of the reaction, the mixture was dropped into a mixture of MeOH: H₂O and filtered in duplicate. The obtained products were dried in a vacuum oven for 24h at 50°C. Yield: 114.2mg Synthesis of dextrin butyrate (DBu- Run 56, Table 3.3): In a schlenk flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer, 240mg of dextrin and EmimOAc as a catalyst (0.25 mole equivalent) was added. The mixture was heated at 80°C using oil bath for 3h in vacuum condition. Then, 2mL DMSO was added as a solvent to dissolve the mixture under an argon atmosphere. Thereafter, VBu with the amount is 16 mole equivalent to molar amount of hydroxyl group in an AGU was added to the mixture and stirred for 18h. At the end of the reaction, the mixture was evaporated and poured slowly in into a mixture of MeOH: H₂O and filtered in duplicate. The obtained product was dried in a vacuum oven for 24h at 50°C. Yield: 235.9mg

Synthesis of pullulan acetate (PuA-Run 58-63, Table 3.4): In a schlenk flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer, 240mg of pullulan and 8g of EmimOAc as a catalyst and solvent were added. The mixture was dried at 80°C using oil bath for 3h under vacuum condition, 4mL DMSO was added as a solvent under an argon atmosphere to get complete pullulan dissolution. Then, 8ml of IPA was added to per mixture under an argon atmosphere and stirred from 5min to 16h at 80°C. At the end of the reaction, the mixture was poured slowly into methanol and filtered in duplicate. The obtained product was dried in a vacuum oven for 24h at 50°C. Yield: 223.9mg

Synthesis of pullulan butyrate (PuBu- Run 64, Table 3.4): In a schlenk flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer and a condenser, 240mg of pullulan and EmimOAc as a catalyst (0.25 mole equivalent) was added. The mixture was heated at 80°C using oil bath for 3h in vacuum condition. Then, 2ml DMSO was added as a solvent to dissolve the mixture under an argon atmosphere. Thereafter, vinyl butyrate with the amount is 16 mole equivalent to molar amount of hydroxyl group in an AGU was added to the mixture and stirred for overnight. At the end of the reaction, the mixture was evaporated and poured slowly in methanol and filtered in duplicate. The obtained product was dried in a vacuum oven for 24h at 50°C. Yield: 400mg Synthesis of xylan, dextrin and pullulan acetates (expanded gram-scale, Run 37- Table 3.2, Run 57-Table 3.3, Run 65-Table 3.4): In an 1000ml schlenk flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer, 2.4g of xylan or dextrin or pullulan and 6.0g of EmimOAc as a solvent and an organocatalyst were added. The mixture was dried under elevated temperature at 80°C using oil bath for 3 h under vacuum conditions. After drying step was completed, 80 mL of DMSO was added as a co-solvent to completely dissolve the mixture under an argon atmosphere. Then, 12 mL of IPA (the initial [IPA]/[OH] was adjusted to be 2.5/1) was added to the mixture and stirred for 18h at 80°C. At the end of the reaction, the homogeneous mixture was poured slowly into 800 mL MeOH (in case of Run 37 and Run 57) or into 800 mL a mixed of MeOH: H₂O (in case of Run 65), the precipitates were collected by filtration in duplicate. The obtained products were dried under vacuum for overnight at 50°C. Yield: XA (3.2g), DA (2.08g), and PuA (3.2g)

Scheme 3.3 Schematic representation of synthesis of xylan, detrin and pullulan derivatives using EmimOAc as both solvent and organocatalyst or a mixed solvent of EmimOAc/DMSO



Scalability: from 120mg to 2.4g

3.5 Characterizations of xylan, dextrin and pullulan derivatives

Xylan, dextrin and pullulan derivatives were successfully synthesized by the transesterification reaction of xylan, dextrin and pullulan with IPA or VBu using EmimOAc as both solvent and organocatalyst or a mixed solvent of EmimOAc and DMSO. The structures of the obtained polymers were demonstrated. The kinetic evolution of DS values for polysaccharide acetates synthesized in EmimOAc, characterizations and solubility behavior were also discussed.

The structural determinations of these derivatives were clearly elucidated by the employment of FT-IR measurement depicted in Figure 3.4 and ¹H NMR spectroscopy presented from Figure 3.5 to Figure 3.8.

FT-IR analysis: The transesterification reaction of xylan, dextrin and pullulan could result in the substitution of hydroxyl groups in the structures of these polysaccharides with carbonyl groups, which can be elucidated by FT-IR spectra with scanning region between 500 and 4000 cm⁻¹ depicted in Figure 3.4. This Figure shows the FT-IR spectra of native polysaccharides and their derivatives. The FT-IR spectra of xylan, dextrin and pullulan indicate that the peak at 3295 cm⁻¹ is due to O-H stretching vibrations, a small peak at 2879 cm⁻¹ is assigned to the stretching vibrations of C-H, stretching vibrations of C-O-C appeared at 1139 and 983 cm^{-1.39} In all the FT-IR spectra of polysaccharide acetates (XA, DA, PuA) and polysaccharide butyrates (XBu, DBu and PuBu), some new additional peaks were observed comparing with those of native polysaccharides. The strong and sharp peak at 1735 cm⁻¹ due to ester stretching vibration of C=O absorption increased after reaction, C-H peak at 1363 cm⁻¹, and the peak of C-O-C stretching vibrations appeared at 1210 cm⁻¹. The appearance of methyl and methylene asymmetric stretching vibrations were observed at around 2962 and 2871 cm⁻¹.^{24, 61, 66}



Figure 3.4 FT-IR spectra of xylan, XA, XBu, dextrin, DA, DBu, pullulan, PuA and PuBu.

¹**H NMR analysis:** The ¹H NMR spectra of xylan, XA and XBu are depicted in Figure 3.5. From the ¹H NMR spectrum of xylan, the signals between 3.3 and 5.3 ppm correspond to the protons of xylan backbone. In the ¹H NMR spectrum of XA, the signals within the range of 3.3-5.0 ppm are assigned to the ring protons XA, and the strong signal at 2.0 ppm due to the methyl protons (- CH_3), the observed signals between 0.9 and 2.5 ppm due to the butyryl group. The

results confirm the successful transesterification of xylan bearing acetyl and butyryl groups, respectively.^{24, 25}



Figure 3.5 ¹H NMR spectra of xylan, XA and XBu recorded in DMSO-*d*₆.

Figure 3.6 presents the ¹H NMR spectra of dextrin recorded in D₂O, DA and DBu recorded in DMSO- d_6 . From the ¹H NMR spectrum of dextrin, the signals in the region from 3.3 to 5.3 ppm assigned to the protons of dextrin backbone. The ¹H NMR spectrum of DA observed the signals within the range of 3.3-5.0 ppm corresponding to the ring protons of DA, and the methyl protons (-*CH*₃) appeared at 2.0 ppm, the signals between 0.9 and 2.5 ppm assigned to the protons of butyryl group. In addition the peaks due to H₂O and DMSO were observed at 3.3 ppm and 2.5 ppm. The results elucidate the successful synthesis of dextrin acetate and dextrin butyrate.



Figure 3.6 ¹H NMR spectra of dextrin recorded in D_2O , DA and DBu recorded in DMSO- d_6 .

Figure 3.7 shows ¹H NMR spectra of pullulan recorded in DMSO-*d*₆, PuA and PuBu recorded in CDCl₃. The peaks arising from the ring-protons of the pullulan backbone were observed in the range from 4.5 to 5.6 ppm in the ¹H NMR spectrum of pullulan. These peaks decreased, and the peaks due to the acetyl groups appeared around 1.8-2.2 ppm in the ¹H NMR spectrum of the PuA. The peaks appeared between 0.9 and 2.5 ppm in the ¹H NMR spectrum of the PuBu assigned to butyryl groups. These results indicate that the successful synthesis of pullulan derivatives bearing acetyl and butyryl groups.^{61, 66}


Figure 3.7 ¹H NMR spectra of pullulan recorded in DMSO-*d*₆, PuA-Run 62 and PuBu-Run 64 recorded in CDCl₃.

The applicability of the large scale TER of polysaccharides using a mixed solvent of EmimOAc and DMSO was demonstrated by the ¹H NMR spectra of the obtained products in DMSO- d_6 presenting in Figure 3.8. The similar signals were observed in the ¹H NMR spectra, the signals appeared in the region between 3.3 ppm and 5.5 ppm due to the protons of polysaccharide backbones, the methyl proton signals at 1.8-2.2 ppm assigned to the acetyl groups.



Figure 3.8 ¹H NMR spectra in DMSO- d_6 of the polysaccharide acetates obtained from a large scale reaction.

The kinetic evolution of the TER of polysaccharides: In order to provide a detailed structural insight into the obtained polysaccharide derivatives, the DS values were determined for the obtained polysaccharide derivatives. The DS values of XA was calculated by the equation according to Perez, et al., 2011.²⁴ The DS values were calculated based on ¹H NMR measurements of the CA (from filter paper) and dextrin derivatives that were obtained by the per-benzoylation reaction of the obtained CA and dextrin derivatives with benzoyl chloride in CHCl₃ with Net₃ as a proton scavenger. The DS of PuA was determined as the equation according to Iwata, et al., 2015.⁶⁶ The obtained polysaccharide derivatives with different DS values were successfully synthesized under various conditions listed in Table 3.2, Table 3.3 and Table 3.4.

Run	Starting material/mg	ILs/g	Ester reagents/mL	DMSO/mL	Time	DS
18	Filter paper (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	5min	2.55
19	Filter paper (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	15min	2.84
20	Filter paper (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	30min	2.85
21	Filter paper (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	45min	2.87
22	Filter paper (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	1h	2.88
23	Filter paper (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	1.5	2.91
24	Filter paper (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	2	2.93
25	Filter paper (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	2.5	2.95
26	Filter paper (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	3	2.97
27	Xylan (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	5min	1.39
28	Xylan (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	10min	1.43
29	Xylan (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	15min	1.50
30	Xylan (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	30min	1.67
31	Xylan (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	45min	1.77
32	Xylan (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	1h	1.88
33	Xylan (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	2h	1.89
34	Xylan (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	3h	1.93
35	Xylan (120)	4	IPA (4)	-	16h	1.96
36	Xylan (240)	0.077	VBu (3.84)	4	18h	1.91
37	Xylan (2400)	6	IPA(12)	80	18	1.88

Table 3.2 Synthesis of CA (from filter paper) and xylan derivatives with differentDS values under various reaction conditions

Dun	Starting	Emim-	Ester	ster		Temp	DS
Kun	material/mg	OAc	reagents/mL	Time	/mL	[°C]	03
38	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (4)	24h	-	40	2.64
39	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (4)	4h	-	50	2.75
40	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (4)	1h	-	60	2.84
41	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (4)	1h	-	70	2.89
42	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (4)	5min	-	80	2.66
43	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (4)	10min	-	80	2.78
44	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (4)	15min	-	80	2.83
45	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (4)	30min	-	80	2.86
46	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (4)	45min	-	80	2.91
47	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (0.25)	1h	-	80	2.38
48	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (0.5)	1h	-	80	2.53
49	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (1)	1h	-	80	2.75
50	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (1.5)	1h	-	80	2.85
51	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (2)	1h	-	80	2.87
52	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (2.5)	1h	-	80	2.89
53	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (3)	1h	-	80	2.9
54	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (3.5)	1h	-	80	2.91
55	Dextrin (120)	4g	IPA (4)	1h	-	80	2.93
56	Dextrin (240)	189mg	VBu (7.3)	18h	2	80	2.74
57*	Dextrin (2400)	6g	IPA (12)	18h	80	80	2.94

Table 3.3 Synthesis of dextrin derivatives with different DS values under various

 reaction conditions

* M_{nSEC} = 11,400, M_w/M_n =1.97, determined from SEC measurement in CHCl₃ using polystyrene standards.

Run	Starting	EmimOAc	Ester	Time	DMSO	DC
	material/mg	/g	reagents/mL	Time	/mL	DS
58	Pullulan (240)	8	IPA (8)	5 min	4	2.55
59	Pullulan (240)	8	IPA(8)	15 min	4	2.61
60	Pullulan (240)	8	IPA (8)	30 min	4	2.68
61	Pullulan (240)	8	IPA (8)	45 min	4	2.9
62	Pullulan (240)	8	IPA (8)	1h	4	2.94
63	Pullulan (120)	4	IPA (4)	16h	-	3.00
64	Pullulan (240)	0.125	VBu (5.6)	18h	2	2.93
65*	Pullulan (2400)	6	IPA (12)	18h	80	2.99

Table 3.4 Synthesis of pullulan derivatives with different DS values under various reaction conditions

* M_{nSEC} = 129,900, M_w/M_n =8.76, determined from SEC measurement in CHCl₃ using polystyrene standards.

The obtained results showing that the transesterification reaction of polysaccharides in EmimOAc or in EmimOAc/DMSO without any additional catalysts and corrosive chemicals were successfully proceeded with a high efficiency. The detailed kinetic evolution of TER of polysaccharides in EmimOAc was investigated. The kinetic evolution of the DS values or conversion rate of polysaccharide acetate was shown in Figure 3.9 and Figure 3.10. DA reached the highest DS of 2.66 (conversion rate of 88.7%), while XA showed the lowest DS of 1.39 (DS_{max}=2, conversion rate of 69.5%) compared with CA and PuA with the same conversion rate of 85% for 5 minutes after the reaction initiation. The DS values or the conversion rate of these polysaccharide derivatives slightly increased and reached by 1.88 (94%, XA), 2.93 (97.7%, DA), 2.94 (98%, PuA) compared with CA (2.88, 96%) for 60 minutes, respectively. The effect of the IPA

concentration to the OH groups ratios and reaction temperature within 1 hour to further confirm the high reactivity of the TER of dextrin in EmimOAc was also investigated. As indicated in Figure 3.11 and Table 3.3, Run 47-55, the TER of dextrin with different IPA concentration by using EmimOAc successfully proceeded. The DS values of dextrin acetate peaked at 2.38 (Run 47) and significantly increased to 2.90 (Run 53) with [IPA]/[OH] being from 1 to 12. The TER of dextrin did not successfully proceeded at 40°C (Run 38) and 50°C (Run 39) for 1h, but after 24 hours at 40°C the reaction occurred to result in the obtained product with DS 2.64, while at 50°C within 4h the achieved product has a DS of 2.75. The reaction efficiently carried out at 60°C (Run 40) to obtain the DS of 2.84, the DS values continuously peaked by 2.89 and 2.93 at 70°C (Run 41) and 80°C (Run 55), respectively.



Figure 3.9 The effect of reaction time on the DS values of polysaccharide acetates.



Figure 3.10 The effect of reaction time on the conversion rate of polysaccharide acetates.



Figure 3.11 The effect of the IPA concentration to the OH group ratios on the DS values of DA.

Thermal property: The thermal stability of native polysaccharides and their derivatives were determined by TGA measurement and depicted in Figure 3.12 and detailed decomposition temperature at 5% and 50% weight loss listed in Table 3.5. At 50% weight loss, the decomposition temperature of CA (Run 6-11, 368-379°C), CBn (Run 12, 373°C)), CPiv (Run 13, 381°C), CAPiv (Run 14, 377°C), and CBu (Run 15, 384°C) were compared with cellulose (332°C). The decomposition temperature values of XA (342°C, Run 32), XBu (356°C, Run 36) compared with native xylan (305°C), DA (375°C, Run 55), DBu (377°C, Run 56), compared with native dextrin (323°C), PuA (384°C, Run 62), PuBu (382°C, Run 64) compared with native pullulan (324°C). These results indicated that the thermal stability of these polysaccharide derivatives could be improved by 36-60°C after transesterification due to the disappearance of the hydroxyl groups.



Figure 3.12 TGA spectra of native xylan, XA,and XBu, native dextrin, DA and DBu, native pullulan, PuA and PuBu.

Samples		Solut	Thermal property			
Samples _	CHCl ₃	DMSO	C ₃ H ₆ O	CH_2Cl_2	$T_{d5\%}$	T _{d50%}
Cellulose	-	-	-	-	275	332
Run 6	+	+	+	+	338	379
Run 7	+	+	Δ	+	269	368
Run 8	+	+	Δ	+	234	372
Run 9	+	+	-	+	336	372
Run 10	+	+	-	+	338	374
Run 11	+	+	-	+	337	372
Run 12	+	+	+	+	328	373
Run 13	+	+	+	+	327	381
Run 14	+	+	+	+	326	377
Run 15	+	+	+	+	342	384
Run 32	-	+	-	-	183	342
Run 36	+	+	Δ	+	281	356
Run 55	+	+	+	+	237	375
Run 56	+	+	+	+	307	377
Run 62	Δ	+	Δ	Δ	341	384
Run 64	+	+	+	+	342	382

Table 3.5 Solubility behavior and thermal property of polysaccharide derivatives

 in common organic solvents

(+ soluble, - insoluble, Δ partly soluble)

Solubility: The important reason that limits the use of polysaccharides for industrial application is its poor solubility in organic solvents. Esterification of polysaccharides is an efficient approach to address this problem. An alteration in the chemical structure of the polysaccharides consequently leads to a change in their solubility behavior. In this study, the solubility behavior of polysaccharide derivatives in organic solvents such as DMSO, chloroform (CHCl₃), dichloromethane (CH₂Cl₂) and acetone was investigated. Table 3.5 illustrates a significant improvement of the solubility of all polysaccharide derivatives in a series of organic solvents. All the obtained cellulose derivatives dissolve in CHCl₃, DMSO and CH₂Cl₂ at room temperature. Acetone showed lower soluble ability with cellulose derivatives compares to the other solvents. DA (Run 55), DBu (Run 56) and PuBu (Run 64) showed an excellent solubility dissolving completely in all used solvents. All these polysaccharide derivatives could be dissolved in DMSO. However, XA (Run 32) and PuA (Run 62) showed poor soluble activity, and did not dissolve or partly dissolve in CHCl₃, acetone and CH₂Cl₂.

3.6 Conclusions

The first investigation of xylan, dextrin and pullulan transesterification was successfully conducted using EmimOAc as both solvent and organocatalyst and DMSO as a co-solvent with IPA and VBu as esterification reagents without complicated reaction techniques. The ¹H NMR spectra demonstrated that successful synthesis of high DS values of xylan, dextrin, and pullulan derivatives bearing acetyl and butyryl groups. In addition, the scalability of the TER of xylan, pullulan, and dextrin was expanded by 20 times into gram-scale resulting xylan acetate, dextrin acetate, and pullulan acetate with the DS values of 1.88, 2.94 and 2.99, respectively. The $M_{n,SEC}$ and M_w/M_n were determined by the SEC measurements, which indicated the Im-IL-catalyzed TER was the mild reaction without any polysaccharide decompositions. Furthermore, the kinetic evolution of transesterification reactions of polysaccharides was also accomplished indicating that the ratios of IPA concentration to hydroxyl groups, reaction time and reaction temperature are very important factors, which significantly affected on the efficiency of TER of polysaccharides in EmimOAc. The thermal stability (based on the TGA measurement), and the solubility behavior of these polysaccharide derivatives in commercial organic solvents were significantly improved after transesterification.

3.7 References

- 1. J. Amim, P. M. Kosaka, D. F. S. Petri, F. C. B. Maia and P. B. Miranda, Journal of Colloid and Interface Science., 2009, 332 (2), 477-483.
- W. K. Son, J. H. Youk and W. H. Park, *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 2006, 65 (4), 430-434.
- 3. B. Y. Yang and R. Montgomery, Starch-Starke., 2008, 60 (3-4), 146-158.
- 4. I. Gabrielii, P. Gatenholm, W. G. Glasser, R. K. Jain and L. Kenne, *Carbohydr. Polym.*, 2000, **43**, 367-374.
- 5. J. M. Fang, R. C. Sun, P. Fowler, J. Tomkinson and C. A. S. Hill, *Journal of Applied Polymer Science.*, 1999, **74 (9)**, 2301-2311.
- N. Mosier, C. Wyman, B. Dale, R. Elander, Y. Lee, M. Holtzapple, Bioresour Technol., 2005, 96, 673-686.
- B. C. Saha, Journal of Industrial Microbiology & Biotechnology., 2003, 30 (5), 279-291.
- 8. Y. Sun and J. Cheng, *Bioresour Technol.*, 2002, 83, 1-11.
- A. Ebringerova, Z. Hromadkova and T. Heinze, *Polysaccharides I,* Advanced in Polymer Science, Springer Berlin/Heidelberg Science., 2005, 186, 1-67.
- 10.R. Deutschmann and R. F. H Dekker, *Biotechnology Advances.*, 2012, **30**, 1627-1640.
- 11. K. Hettrich, S. Fischer, N. Schroder, J. Engelhardt, U. Drechsler and F. Loth, *Macromolecular Symposia.*, 2006, **232**, 37-48.
- 12. S. Daus and T. Heinze, Macromol. Biosci., 2010, 10, 211-220.
- L. Chaa, N. Joly, V. Lequart, C. Faugeron, J. C Mollet, P. Martin and H. Morvan, *Carbohydr. Polym.*, 2008, 74, 597-602.
- 14. N. M. L. Hansen and D. Plackett, Biomacromolecules., 2008, 9, 1493-1505.
- 15. J. F. Carson and W. D. Maclay, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1948, 70, 293-295.
- C. M. G. C. Renard and M. C. Jarvis, *Carbohydr. Polym.*, 1999, **39**, 201-207.

- 17. M. Grondahl, A. Teleman and P. Gatenholm, *Carbohydr. Polym.*, 2003, **52**, 359-366.
- 18. J. M. Fang, R. C. Sun, J. Tomkinson and P. Fowler, *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 2000, **41 (4)**, 379-387.
- F. Peng, J. L. Ren, B. Peng, F. Xu, R. C. Sun and J. X. Sun, *Carbohydrate Research.*, 2008, 343 (17), 2956-2962.
- 20. J. L. Ren, R. C. Sun, C. F. Liu, Z. N. Cao and W. Luo, *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 2007, **70 (4)**, 406-414.
- 21. R. C. Sun, J. M. Fang, J. Tomkinson and G. L. Jones, *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 1999, **10**, 209-218.
- 22. X. F. Sun, R. C. Sun and J. X. Sun, Journal of Science of Food and Agriculture., 2004, 84 (8), 800-810.
- 23. F. Xu, J. X Jiang, R. C. Sun, D. She, B. Peng, J. X. Sun and J. F. Kennedy, *Carbohydr. Polym.*, 2008, **73**, 612-620.
- 24. F. –Z. Belmokaddem, C. Pinel, P. Huber, M. Petit-Conil and D. D. S. Perez, *Carbohrdrate Research.*, 2011, **346**, 2896-2904.
- N. G.V. Fundador, Y. E. Rogers, A. Takemura and T. Iwata, *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 2012, 87, 170-176.
- 26.N. G.V. Fundador, Y. E. Rogers, A. Takemura and T. Iwata, *Polymer.*, 2012, 53, 3885-3893.
- 27.D. M. Silva, C. Nunes, I. Pereira, A. S. P. Moreira, M. R. M. Domingues, M. A. Coimbra and F. M Gama, *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 2014, 114, 458-466.
- 28. G. Pasut, Polymers., 2014, 6, 160-178.
- 29. I. S. Chronakis, Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition., 1998, 38 (7), 599-637.
- 30. K. Alvani, X. Qi and R. F. Tester, Starch-Starke., 2011, 63 (7), 424-431.
- S. Ghosh, G. Sen, U. Jha and S. Pal, *Bioresource Technology.*, 2010, 101, 9638-9644.
- S. Pal, T. Nasim, A. Patra, S. Ghosh and A. B. Panda, *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules.*, 2010, 47, 623-631.

- 33. C. Goncalves, S. M. Moreira, V. Carvalho, D. M. Silva and F. M. Gama, *Encyclopedia of biomedical polymers and polymeric biomaterials.*, 2014.
- 34. E. Peers and R. Gokal, Artificial Organs., 1998, 22 (1), 8-12.
- 35. Y. Takatori, S. Akagi, H. Sugiyama, J. Inoue, S. Kojo, H. Morinaga, K. Nakao, J. Wada and H. Makino, *Clinical Journal of American Society of Nephrology.*, 2011, 6 (6), 1337-1344.
- 36. A. DeBusk and T. Alleman, *Powell, TN: DeRoyal Industries, Inc.*, 2006, US2006/0018955A1.
- 37. J. Carvalho, C. Goncalves, A. M. Gil and F. M. Gama, *European Polymer Journal.*, 2007, 43 (7), 3050-3059.
- 38. J. M. Carvalho, M. A. Coimbra and F. M. Gama, *Carbohydrate polymers.*, 2009, **75 (2)**, 322-327.
- 39. D. Das, R. Das, J. Mandal, A. Ghosh and S. Pal, *Journal of Applied Polymer Science.*, 2014, **131 (7)**, n/a-n/a14.
- 40. S. Moreira, R. M. G. da Costa, L. Guardao, F. Gartner, M. Vilanova and M. Gama, *Journal of Bioactive and Compatible Polymers.*, 2010, 25 (2), 141-153.
- 41. M. Molinos, V. Carvalho, D. M. Silva and F. M. Gama, Biomacromolecules., 2012, 13 (2), 517-527.
- 42. P. Sun, H. Yang, Y. Wang, K. Liu and Y. Xu, Research in Health and Nutrition (RHN)., 2013, 1 (1), 7-11.
- 43. A. Cho, S. –H. Choi, H. –W. Choi, H. –S. Kim, W. Kim, D. –O. Kim, B. –
 Y. Kim and M. –Y. Baik, *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 2013, 97, 130-137.
- 44. R. Bauer, Zentralbl Bacteriol Parasitenkd Infektionskr Hyg Abt2., 1938, 98, 133-167.
- 45. S. Yuen, Process Biochem., 1974, 9, 7-9.
- 46. K. Y. Lee and Y. J. Yoo, *Biotechnol Lett.*, 1993. 15, 1021-1024.
- 47. R. S. Singh, G. K. Saini and J. F. Kennedy, *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 2008, 73 (4), 515-531.

- 48. T. D. Leathers, Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology., 2003, 62 (5-6), 468-473.
- 49. M. R. Rekha and C. P. Sharmam, Trends Biomater Artif Organs., 2007, 20, 116-121.
- 50. K. Akiyoshi, S. Yamaguchi and J. Sunamoto, *Chemistry letters.*, 1991, 1263-1266.
- 51. K. Akiyoshi, S. Deguchi, N. Moriguchi, S. Yamaguchi and J. Sunamoto, *Macromolecules.*, 1993, **26**, 3062-3068.
- 52. G. Mocanu, A. Carpov, S. Chapelle, L. Merle and G. Muller, *Canadian Journal of Chemistry.*, 1995, **73**, 1933-1940.
- 53. G. Mocanu, D. Vizitiu, D. Mihai and A. Carpov, *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 1999, **39**, 283-288.
- A. Heeres, F. F. Spoelma, H. A. van Doren, K. F. Gotlieb, I. P. Bleeker and R. M. Kellogg, *Carbohydrate Polymers.*, 2000, 42, 33-43.
- 55. M. Shibata, R. Nozawa, N. Teramoto and R. Yosomiya, *European Polymer Journal.*, 2002, **38**, 497-501.
- 56. M. Shibata, M. Asahina, N. Teramoto and R. Yosomiya, *Polymer.*, 2001, 41, 59-64.
- 57. G. Mocanu, M. Constantin and A. Carpov, *Die Angewandte Makromolekulare Chemie.*, 1996, **241**, 1-10.
- 58. H. Hijiya and M. Shiosaka, *Adhesive and pastes*. US Patent 3,873,333, 1975.
- D. H. Donabedian, R. A. Gross, and S. P. McCarthy, *Polymeric Materials.*, 1992, **67**, 301-302.
- 60. S. W. Jung, Y. I. Jeong and S. H. Kim, *International Journal of Pharmaceutics.*, 2003, **254**, 109-121.
- 61. N. Teramoto and M. Shibata, Carbohydrate Polymers., 2006, 63, 476-481.
- 62. M. J. Earle and K. R. Seddon, Pure Appl. Chem., 2000, 72 (7), 1391-1398.
- 63. M. Bier and S. Dietrich, Mol. Phys., 2010, 108, 1413.

- 64. L. Lazer, I. Balasanian and F. Bandrabur, *Environ. Eng. Manag. J.*, 2007, **6**, 529-535.
- 65. J. L. Ren, R. C. Sun, C.F. Liu, Z. N. Cao and W. Luo, *Carbohydr. Polym.*, 2007, **70**, 406-414.
- 66. Y. E.-Rogers, N. Iio, A. Takemura and T. Iwata, European Polymer Journal., 2015, 66, 470-477.

Chapter 4: Application of the TER using 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate to directly acetylate lignocellulose from raw lignocellulosic biomass

In this chapter, the author tried to apply the TER system consisted of EmimOAc, DMSO and esterification reagent (IPA) to directly acetylated polysaccharide (cellulose and hemicellulose) within lignocellulosic raw biomass such as rice husk and coconut fiber. The EmimOAc was recovered and reused after reactions. The structure of the obtained polymers was confirmed by FT-IR and ¹H NMR spectroscopy. The thermal property and solubility were also investigated. From above mentioned results indicated that the presented IL-catalyzed TER is the one of the best method for esterification of cellulose including raw biomass.

4.1 Introduction

Recently, human activities based on fossil resources such as coal, gas and oil to generate energy and produce chemical products.¹ The over exploration of fossil resources results in the emission of greenhouse gas and climate change. However, fossil resources are limited reserves and non-renewable, they will be depleted and not enough to offer for human needs in the near future while the global population has being increased. Therefore, environmental protections and energy security are main global interests.² Biomass, a non-fossil renewable resource of biological origin has been considered to convert into bioenergy and bio-based chemicals and materials to replace the use of fossil resources. Lignocellulosic biomass refers to inedible and the most abundant plant material in the planet. The component of lignocellulose consists mainly of carbohydrate polymers (such as 45% of cellulose and 25% of hemicellulose), 25% of aromatic polymer lignin and other compounds such as pectins, protein, waxes and lipids (5%). It has been investigated as a promising potential resource to obtain

chemicals, energy and various materials because of its renewable and biodegradable characteristics.³⁻⁵ Rice husk and coconut fiber are sources of lignocellulose from agricultural waste. Rice husk (or hull) is the outermost layer of the paddy grain. Around 20% of paddy weight is husk that is separated from the rice grains during the milling process.

The estimated world rice production in 2014 was about 741.3 million tons reported by the Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO),⁶ which means approximately 1.482×10^8 tons of rice husk biomass will be generated globally in this year. Studies have reported that the components of rice husk including silica (15-28 wt %), cellulose (35-40 wt %), hemicellulose (15-20 wt %), and lignin (20-25 wt %)^{7, 8} depending on the variety, origin, climate, and geographic location.9, 10 Rice husk is tough and bulky biomass and low nutritional value, which lead the limited application of rice husk.¹¹ Currently, open field burning and land filling are the two most common rice husk disposal methods. However, they lead to energy waste, greenhouse gas emission, air pollution, and huge landfill space occupancy because of their low bulk density.^{12, 13} To solve these problems, scientists have been exploring to develop more economical methods to utilize rice husk.^{10, 14-17} Rice husk is used to make bio-fertilizer for agriculture by composting,¹⁸ materials for construction (such as bricks, insulation fillers, etc.),¹⁹ electricity (by controlled burning),²⁰ higher values silicon based materials.^{11, 9, 21} Coconut fiber (coir fiber) is isolated from coconut husk. Coconut fiber (coir) is a renewable and abundant resource, which has important properties such as nontoxic, biodegradable, low density and CO₂-neutral material. The composition of coir fiber consist of high lignin content (41-45wt%), cellulose (36-43wt%), hemicellulose (10-20wt%) and others.²² Coir fiber has been used in the fabrication of helmet and bulletproof jackets because of their remarkable mechanical properties.²³ Coir fiber reinforced polymer composite has been developed.²² Chemical modification of coconut fiber such as mercerization, dewaxing, bleaching, acrylation, acetylation, cyanoethylation, silane treatment, benzoylation, peroxide treatment, isocyanate treatment, latex coating, and steam-explosion have

studied to improve the interfacial properties.²³ Thus, the author focused on the modification of these raw biomass, such as rice husk and coconuts fiber, for direct conversion to the cellulose derivatives using ionic liquid (IL)-mediated transesterification as cost-effective method.²⁴⁻²⁹

In this chapter, the IL-mediated TER system, which was mentioned in the previous chapters, was applied to directly acetylation of lignocellulosic raw biomass as mixture of the cellulose and the hemicellulose. Furthermore, EmimOAc was recovered and reused after reactions. The structural analysis of the obtained polymers was confirmed by FT-IR and ¹H NMR measurements. The thermal properties and solubility were also investigated.

4.2 Materials

The ionic liquid 1-ethyl-3-methyl-imidazolium acetate (EmimOAc) (95%) was purchased from Tokyo Chemical Industry Co., Ltd, Japan and used without further purification. The esterification reagent (isopropenyl acetate 99%), and co-solvent DMSO were available from the Sigma-Aldrich Chemicals Co. The biomasses (RH and CF) were washed three time with deionized water to remove dirt and then dried at 105°C overnight in a vacuum oven. The dried biomass was crushed into powder (75-125µm) to increase the surface area by using a blender.

4.3 Experimental section

Transesterification reaction of raw biomass: A mixture of 600mg (6 wt%) of biomass powder (rice husk or coconuts fiber) and 10 g of EmimOAc was stirred by a magnetic stirrer and dried at 80°C in an oil bath for 3 h under vacuum condition; then 15 ml DMSO was added under argon atmosphere to dissolve completely biomass at 110°C for overnight; then after drying, 20 ml IPA was added into the solution and reacted with biomass for 18 h at 80°C; at the end of reaction, the solution was precipitated in MeOH and filtrated to collect acetylated polysaccharides (rice husk, Run 66; coconuts fiber, Run 68). The EmimOAc was recovered after reaction by evaporation and reused for the next experiment as the ionic liquid, afforded acetylated polysaccharides derived from rice husk (Run 67) and coconuts fiber (Run69) (Scheme 4.1).

Scheme 4.1 The schematic representation of direct transesterification reactions of lignocellulosic biomass in EmimOAc and DMSO



4.4 Characterization methods

The FT-IR spectra were observed by a Thermo Fisher Scientific Nicolet iS10 equipped with an ATR unit. All the ¹H NMR spectra were recorded by JEOL 400 and 600 MHz FT-NMR spectrometers in solution of products (10mg) dissolved in 800µL of deuterated solvents (such as DMSO- d_6 , CDCl₃-d) the chemical shifts (δ) were given in ppm as either the solvent peak or TMS as the internal standard. Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) was performed on a DTG-60AH instrument (Shimadzu) with a heating rate of 10°C/min under nitrogen atmosphere. The decomposition temperature (T_d) was determined as the onset temperature of decline in the TGA chart. In the solubility check, ten milligram of the obtained products were dissolved in various organic solvents. The solubility behavior was observed.

4.5 Results and discussion

4.5.1 Confirmation of the obtained acetylated polysaccharides

The most important step of the modification of raw biomass is deconstruction of the biomass structure. In this experiment, a mixture of EmimOAc, biomass, and DMSO was heated at elevated temperature (110°C) for overnight. The state of the mixture was shown in Figure 4.1. This step leaded to break down the bonds between lignin and carbohydrates obtaining cellulose and hemicellulose. Then after, cellulose and hemicellulose reacted with isopropenyl acetate affording polysaccharide acetate (PA) which containing cellulose acetate (CA) and hemicellulose acetate (HA). The structure of these polymers was confirmed by FT-IR and ¹H NMR measurements.



Figure 4.1 Direct transesterification reaction of polysaccharides from lignocellulosic biomass using EmimOAc/DMSO with IPA (A: EmimOAc+biomass before reaction, B: the obtained product from RH, C: the obtained product from CF)

FTIR analysis; The FT-IR spectra of RH, CF and the obtained products (Run 66, 68 using pure EmimOAc and Run 67, 69 using recycled EmimOAc) are

observed and depicted in Figure 4.2. It could be clearly observed that the intensity of the broad peak around 3340 cm⁻¹ in both RH and CF, which is assigned to OH stretching, was significantly decreased after transesterification, suggesting the substitution of OH groups along polysaccharide chains by acetyl groups. IR measurements of the obtained products using fresh EmimOAc (Run 66, 68) and using recycled EmimOAc (Run 67, 69) indicated the same spectra. The sharp peaks present at 1733 and 1211 cm⁻¹ assigned to the C=O and C-O stretching absorption of saturated carboxylic esters,³⁰ and C-H absorption at 1365 cm⁻¹. The peak at 1031 cm⁻¹ belongs to the asymmetric stretching of C-O-C from the pyranose ring.³¹ The characteristic bands of polysaccharide acetate appear in all products indicating the successful synthesis of polysaccharide acetates from RH and CF.



Figure 4.2 FT-IR spectra of RH, CF, and PAs isolated from RH (Run 66 using fresh EmimOAc, Run 67 using recycled EmimOAc) and from CF (Run 68 using fresh EmimOAc, Run 69 using recycled EmimOAc).

¹**H NMR analysis;** Figure 4.3 shows the ¹H NMR spectra of the obtained polymers dissolved in CDCl₃ recorded at 25°C. The peaks in the region of 2.8-5.2 ppm are corresponded to the seven ring protons of AGU, and the signals of the acetyl groups (CH₃) appeared at 1.6-2.3ppm. The peaks around 2.5, 3.3 and 7.2 ppm is related to the protons of DMSO, H₂O and CDCl₃, respectively. Based on ¹H NMR spectra, the obtained polymers were confirmed as PAs including CA and HA by using fresh EmimOAc/DMSO system. When the recycled EmimOAc was employed (Run 67 and 69), although the reaction was proceeded, some incorrected peaks was observed.





4.5.2 Recover and reuse the EmimOAc

In recent years, EmimOAc was increasingly investigated as solvent and acetylation media solving high amount of lignocellulosic biomass. In this work, evaporation method was used to remove the impurities such as DMSO, IPA, MeOH and H₂O from the precipitated solution for purification of EmimOAc. After the polysaccharide acetates were isolated by a simple reprecipitation into MeOH, the resultant MeOH layer was subject to evaporation and subsequently high vacuum distillation. The evaporation conditions were conducted as followed 1) 100×10^2 Pa, at 60°C for 3h, 2) 5 Pa, at 80°C for 16h. The ¹H NMR spectra of recycled EmimOAc in CDCl₃ were presented in Figure 4.4 compared to ¹H NMR spectrum of fresh EmimOAc. As shown in the ¹H NMR spectra of the recycled EmimOAc, beside the peaks due to the peaks of fresh EmimOAc, a slight amount of impurity was observed. The recovered EmimOAc was then reused for the next lignocellulose modification reaction without any cautions.





As the results shown in Table 4.1, PAs were obtained with high yields (746mg – Run 66, 713mg – Run 67, 693mg – Run 68 and 560mg – Run 69) and good recyclability of the EmimOAc (Run 67, 98.6% and Run 69, 97.8%). This procedure was successfully reused for the next time without any difficulties and a

decrease in catalytic activities. Thus, although unknown impurities have been generated in the employed EmimOAc through the iterated reaction and purification steps, the EmimOAc was revealed to be recyclable and reusable in the lignocellulose modification reaction.

4.5.3 Thermal property of the obtained PAs

The TGA thermal curves of RH, CF and the obtained PAs from RH (Run 66) and CF (Run 68) using fresh EmimOAc are observed in Figure 4.5 and Table 4.1.



Figure 4.5 TGA thermograms of RH and CF (red, overlap), PAs from RH (Run 66) and CF (Run 68).

The TGA curves of RH and CF were overlap and indicated a minor weight loss due to the water desorption, which was not clear in the PAs from 40 to 150°C. This is pointed that PAs are more hydrophobic than that of RH and CF. At 50% weight loss, the decomposition temperature of PAs isolated from RH (Run 66, 374°C) and CF (Run 68, 373°C) is higher by 7-8°C compared to raw biomass (366°C).

4.5.4 The solubility of the PAs

The solubility of obtained PAs in CHCl₃, CH₂Cl₂, DMSO and acetone was investigated and shown in Table 4.1. The results illustrate that all PAs revealed good solubility in CH₂Cl₂, whereas these samples are poor or not soluble in acetone. The PAs obtained from both RH and CF by using recycled EmimOAc (Run 67, 69) dissolve in DMSO while the obtained PAs by using fresh EmimOAc show a partly solubility in this solvent.

Table 4.1 The yield, solubility and thermal property of the PAs obtained directly from RH and CF using fresh EmimOAc (Run 66, 68) and recycled EmimOAc (Run 67, 69)

Run	Yield	EmimOAc recycled / wt %		$T_{d50\%}$			
	/mg		CHCl ₃	CH ₂ Cl ₂	DMSO	Acetone	/ °C
66	746	-	0	0	Δ	Х	374
67	713	98.6	0	0	0	Δ	371
68	693	-	0	0	Δ	Х	373
69	560	97.8	Δ	0	0	Х	374

O-soluble, X-insoluble, Δ - partly soluble

4.6 Conclusions

The of homogeneous the EmimOAc/DMSO-mediated system transesterification reaction of rice husk and coconut fiber, as a raw biomass, could produce acetylated biomass which containing cellulose acetate and hemicellulose acetate with the high yields and high degree of substitution. The obtained products were confirmed successful synthesis of polysaccharide acetates, including cellulose acetate and hemi-cellulose acetate, by FT-IR and ¹H NMR spectroscopy. The thermal property of the obtained products was also investigated using TGA measurement which shows the increased decomposition temperature compared with raw biomass. The solubility of the synthesized acetylated polysaccharide in dichloromethane, DMSO, chloroform, and acetone was investigated. Furthermore, the EmimOAc could be highly recovered from the filtrates after the precipitation step and reused effectively in consecutive biomass acetylation batches.

4.7 References

- 1. A. Brandt, J. Grasvik, J. P. Hallet and T. Welton, *Green Chem.*, 2013, **15**, 550-583.
- 2. J-L. Wertz and O. Bédué, Lignocellulosesic Biorifinergies., 2013.
- 3. M. Balat and H. Balat, Applied Energy., 2009, 86 (11), 2273-2282.
- 4. D. R. Dodds and R. A. Gross, Science., 2007, 318 (5854), 1250-1251.
- 5. A. Gandini, *Macromolecules.*, 2008, **41 (24)**, 9491-9504.
- 6. FAO Rice Market Monitor (RMM), April 2015, 18 (1), 1-14.
- J. Yu, J. B. Zhang, J. He, Z. D. Liu and Z. N. Yu, *Bioresour. Technol.*, 2009, 100 (2), 903-908.
- P. Kumar, D. M. Barrett, M. J. Delwiche and P. Stroeve, *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 2009, 48, 3713-3729.
- Y. L. Chiew and K. Y. A. Cheong, *Mater. Sci. Eng. B-Adv. Funct. Solid-State Mater.*, 2011, 176 (13), 951-964.
- 10. Y. Ma, X. Zhao, H. Zhang and Z. Wang, *Ind. Crop Prod.*, 2011, **33 (2)**, 403-408.
- 11. L. Y. Sun and K. C. Gong, Ind. Eng. Res., 2001, 40 (25), 5861-5877.
- J. S. Lim, Z. A. Manan, S. R. W. Alwi and H. A. Hashim, *Renew. Sustain.* Energy Rev., 2012, 16 (5), 3084-3094.
- W. Wang, J. C. Martin, N. Zhang, C. Ma, A. Han and L. Sun, J. Nanopart. Res., 2011, 13 (12), 6981-6990.
- A. Singh, D. Pant, N. E. Korres, A. S. Nizami, S. Prasad and J. D. Murphy, *Bioresour. Technol.*, 2010, **101 (13)**, 5003-5012.
- H. C. Moon, H. R. Jeong and D. H. Kim, *Asia-Pacific J. Chem. Eng.*, 2012, 7 (2), 206-211.
- 16. B. C. Saha and M. A. Cotta, *Biomass Bioenergy.*, 2008, **32** (10), 971-977.
- 17. A. Abbas and S. Ansumali, *Bioenergy Res.*, 2010, **3** (4), 328-334.
- M. Anda, J. Shamshuddin, C. I. Fauziah and S. R. S. Omar, *Soil. Sci. Soc. Am*, *J.*, 2010, **74 (4)**, 1167-1180.

- M. Safiuddin, M. Z. Jumaat, M. A. Salam, M. S. Islam and R. Hashim, *Int. J. Phys. Sci.*, 2010, 5 (13), 1952-1963.
- 20. J. Prasara-A and T. Grant, Int. J. Life Cycle Assess., 2011, 16 (6), 493-502.
- 21. F. Adam, J. N. Appaturi and A. Iqbal, Catal. Today., 2012, 190 (1), 2-14.
- D. Verma, P. C. Gope, A. Shandilya, A. Gupta and M. K. Maheshwari, J. Mater. Environ. Sci., 2013, 4 (2), 263-267.
- 23. S. Jayavani, Deka Harekrishna, T. O. Varghese and S. K. Nayak, *Polymer Composites.*, 2016, 3296-3309.
- 24. P. Wasserscheid and T. Welton, VCH Wiley, Weinheim, 2nd edn., 2008; B. Kirchner, Top. Curr. Chem., 2009, 290.
- J. P. Hallett and T. Welton, *Chem. Rev.*, 2011, **111**, 3508; T. Welton, *Chem. Rev.*, 1999, **99**, 2071.
- V. I. Parulescu and C. Hardacre, *Chem. Rev.*, 2007, **107**, 2615; T. Welton, *Coord. Chem, Rev.*, 2004, **248**, 2459; J. Dupont, R. F. de Souza and P. A. Z. Suarez, *Chem. Rev.*, 2002, **102**, 3667; P. Wasserscheid and W. Keim, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2000, **39**, 3772.
- 27. F. van Rantwijk and R. A. Sheldon, *Chem. Rev.*, 2007, 107, 2757; U. Kragl,
 M. Eckstein and N. Kaftzik, *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 2002, 13, 565; S. Muginova, A. Galimova, A. Polyakov and T. Shekhovtsova, *J. Anal. Chem.*, 2010, 65, 331.
- 28. R. Hagiwara and J. S. Lee, *Electrochem.*, 2007, **75**, 23.
- 29. A. Stark, *Energy Environ. Sci.*, 2011, 4, 19; H. Tadesse and R. Luque, *Energy Environ. Sci.*, 2011, 4, 3913; M. FiztPatrick, P. Champagne, M. F. Cunningham and R. A. Whitney, *Bioresour. Technol.*, 2010, 101, 8915; C. Z. Liu, F. Wang, A. R. Stiles and C. Gou, *Appl. Energy.*, 2012, 92, 406; T. Vancov, A. –S. Alston, T. Brown and S. McIntosh, *Renew. Energy.*, 2012, 45, 1.
- 30.M. Schilling, M. Bouchard, H. Khanajian, T. Learner, A. Phenix and R. Rivenc, *Accounts of Chemical Research.*, 2010, **43 (6)**, 888-896.

31. S. Ali, Z. Khatri, K. W. Oh, I. S. Kim and S. H. Kim, *Macromolecular Research.*, 2014, **22 (9)**, 971-977.

Chapter 5: Conclusions and future work

5.1 Conclusions

In this dissertation, the synthesis and characterization of a series of polysaccharide derivatives using ionic liquid catalyzed transesterification reactions were successfully investigated and developed. The EmimOAc shows an excellent solvent and organocatalyst for TER of a range of polysaccharides including cellulose materials, xylan, dextrin, pullulan and lignocellulosic biomass with different esterification reagents. The homogeneous system consisted of mixed solvent of EmimOAc and DMSO catalyzed transesterification was revealed to show not only robustness on gram-scale synthesis but also sufficient green nature with high recyclability. The kinetic evolution of the TER of polysaccharides in EmimOAc was investigated indicating that polysaccharide derivatives with high DS values were achieved rapidly and smoothly. The thermal properties and solubility of polysaccharide derivatives were observed showing a remarkable improvement after reaction.

The detailed conclusions of this research were summarized as follows:

In chapter 2, the recyclability and scalability of the Im-ILs were evaluated for the catalytic transesterifications of cellulose. For the organocatalytic transesterifications with EmimOAc as a solvent and an organocatalyst, EmimOAc was recycled for four times without an obvious decrease in catalytic activity and the recovery rate of the EmimOAc reached sufficiently high (at least, 96 wt %). Beside that, in order to show the applicability of the EmimOAc catalyzed transesterifications, the above-mentioned EmimOAc-catalyzed polymer modification was expanded to gram-scale reaction with various cellulose sources such as avicel, pulps and rayon, affording cellulose esters with practically perfect conversions of the starting hydroxyl groups. Moreover, the TER of cellulose using homogeneous system composed EmimOAc as both solvent and catalyst or mixed solvent of EmimOAc and DMSO with a range of esterification reagents such as IPA, VBu, VPiv and VBn without using additional catalysts and corrosive chemicals were successfully accomplished affording cellulose derivatives. The structural characterization of the obtained cellulose derivatives were clearly confirmed by FT-IR and ¹H NMR analyses indicated that CA, CBu, CPiv, CBn and CAPiv with high DS values were successfully and rapidly synthesized. The $M_{n,SEC}$ and M_w/M_n were determined by the SEC measurements, which indicated the Im-IL-catalyzed TER was the mild reaction without any cellulose decompositions. The chemical modification of various cellulose resources in EmimOAc or in a mixed solvent of EmimOAc and DMSO is a sustainable and effective method for synthesis of cellulose derivatives in industry. The obtained results should shed light on the synthetic utility of Im-ILs in polymer sciences from the view point of not only a green solvent but also a recyclable organocatalyst.

In chapter 3, the first investigation of xylan, dextrin and pullulan transesterification by using EmimOAc as both solvent and organocatalyst or EmimOAc as an organocatalyst and DMSO as a co-solvent with IPA and VBu as esterification reagents without using additional catalysts and corrosive chemicals was successfully conducted. The FT-IR and ¹H NMR measurements were used to confirm the structures of the achieved polymers. The observed spectra demonstrated that successful synthesis of high DS values xylan, dextrin, and pullulan derivatives bearing acetyl and butyryl groups. In addition, the scalability of the TER of xylan, pullulan, and dextrin was expanded by 20-times-scale (gramscale) resulting xylan acetate, dextrin acetate, and pullulan acetate with the DS values of 1.88, 2.94 and 2.99, respectively. In addition, SEC measurements indicated that the obtained products had no decomposed compound during the EmimOAc-catalyszed TER. Furthermore, the kinetic evolution of TER of polysaccharides was also accomplished indicating that the ratios of IPA concentration to hydroxyl groups, reaction time and reaction temperature are very important factors, which significantly affected on the efficiency of TER of polysaccharides in EmimOAc. Finally, the thermal stability and the solubility behavior of polysaccharide derivatives in commercial organic solvents were significantly improved after transesterification reactions.

In chapter 4, the homogeneous system consisted of EmimOAc, co-solvent DMSO and IPA could be used to directly obtain high yield polysaccharide derivatives from lignocellulosic biomass such as RH and CF which are abundant agricultural waste in Vietnam. The structure of the obtained products were confirmed by FT-IR and ¹H NMR spectroscopy. The results indicate that successful synthesis of polysaccharide acetates including CA and HA. The TGA measurement was employed to analyze the thermal property of the acetylated polysaccharides showing the increased decomposition temperature compared with those of raw lignocellulosic biomass. In addition, the synthesized polysaccharide acetates show a different soluble ability in various common organic solvents such as dichloromethane, DMSO, chloroform, and acetone. Finally, the EmimOAc could be highly recovered from the filtrates after the precipitation step and reused effectively in consecutive lignocellulosic biomass acetylation batches.

5.2 Proposed future work

The research has been developed and achieved some remarkable results in synthesis of various polysaccharide derivatives in not only milligram-scale but also gram-scale using ionic liquid catalyzed TER. The obtained polysaccharide derivatives showed a great thermal property and excellent solubility in a range of common organic solvents. However, to apply these polysaccharide derivatives for making carbon fiber reinforced plastics (CFRP) in case of cellulose and xylan derivatives, producing membrane for food parking or using for drug delivery in case of pullulan and dextrin derivatives, further characterizations such as differential scanning calorimetry (DSC), tensile modulus, scanning electron microscopy (SEM), interfacial shear strength between fiber and resin (microdroplet test) and biodegradability of these polysaccharide esters need to be investigated. In addition, to make this methodology more sustainable and economical, reducing the amount of ionic liquid, finding effective recovery method and the reaction conditions are necessary to optimize. Finally, based on what I have learned and conducted during the doctoral course in field of ionic liquid application for synthesis of polymers or biomass conversion into biomaterial and biofuel, in near future, I will apply these eco-friendly technologies for utilization of the agricultural residues in my country to produce useful materials. The application and research about ionic liquids are new theme and limited in my country. I will face to many difficulties in real study because of poor facilities and advanced experiences. Therefore, I am positively believe that with the help and corporation of the ionic liquids experts from Kanazawa University, I will get great achievements in study and develop the ionic liquids researcher network.